

# **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

# Socialization Within Homeschooling

ruth leiter Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Education Commons

# Walden University

College of Education and Human Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Ruth E. Leiter

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Cheryl Keen, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty
Dr. Catherine Marienau, Committee Member, Education Faculty
Dr. Leslie VanGelder, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

# Abstract

# Socialization Within Homeschooling

by

Ruth E. Leiter

MM, Manhattan School of Music, 2009 BS, Manhattan School of Music, 2007

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Education

Walden University

November 2022

#### Abstract

There is limited research on how homeschooled children socialize and how homeschooling parents view their socialization practices. More research could help parents be more effective in providing socialization experiences to enhance homeschooling. This study was conducted to develop a better understanding of parents' perceptions of how homeschooling affects the socialization of their elementary schoolaged children. The research questions also explored in what ways parents make socialization a component of homeschooling practices. Medlin's three foci of socialization (i.e., social activity, influence, and exposure) were used as the conceptual framework. Using a basic qualitative approach, semi structured interviews were conducted with eight homeschooling parents. Open-ended coding of their responses resulted in five emergent themes. Parents perceived homeschooling provides their children with the opportunity to interact with people from all walks of life and fosters self-development and self-directedness. They also perceived family creates community and culture and that homeschooling parents employed strategies for organized socialization and encouraged organic socialization. Educators and homeschooling parents may constructively use these findings to integrate socialization into learning and for increased understanding of how children make friends and upon what those friendships may be based. Positive social change may result from children supported in socialization that results in engagement with difference and increased civic involvement.

# Socialization Within Homeschooling

by

Ruth E. Leiter

MM, Manhattan School of Music, 2009 BS, Manhattan School of Music, 2007

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Education

Walden University

November 2022

# Table of Contents

Lis	st of Tables	V
Ch	napter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
	Background	3
	Problem Statement	7
	Purpose of the Study	7
	Research Questions	8
	Conceptual Framework for the Study	8
	Nature of the Study	9
	Definitions	9
	Assumptions	10
	Scope and Delimitations	10
	Limitations	11
	Significance	11
	Summary	12
Ch	napter 2: Literature Review	14
	Literature Search Strategy	15
	Conceptual Framework	16
	Literature Review Related to Key Concepts	17
	Stereotypical Assertions and Misconceptions of Homeschooling	19
	Academic Achievement	24
	Debates Over Standardized Tests	25

	Parental and Student Isolation	28
	Practices Within Homeschooling to Foster Socialization	29
	Making Friends	30
	Freedom of Environment	31
	Technological Innovations and Their Effect on Homeschooling	31
	The Impact of COVID-19 on Homeschooling	34
	Summary and Conclusions	35
Ch	apter 3: Methodology	37
	Research Design and Rationale	37
	Role of the Researcher	39
	Methodology	40
	Participant Population Selection, Recruitment Procedures, and Participa	tion40
	Instrumentation	41
	Data Collection	41
	Data Analysis Plan	42
	Issues of Trustworthiness.	43
	Credibility	43
	Transferability	43
	Dependability	44
	Confirmability	44
	Ethical Procedures	44
	Summary	46

Chapter 4: Results	47
Setting	47
Demographics	48
Data Collection	49
Data Analysis	50
Evidence of Trustworthiness	52
Credibility	52
Transferability	52
Dependability	53
Confirmability	53
Results	53
Theme 1: Homeschooling Provides the Opportunity to Interact With People F	rom
all Walks of Life	54
Theme 2: The Family Creates Community and Culture	57
Theme 3: Homeschooling Fosters Self-Development and Self-Directedness	62
Theme 4: Parents Choose Strategies for Organized Socialization	65
Theme 5: Parents Encourage Organic Socialization	67
Summary	69
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions and Recommendations	71
Interpretation of the Findings.	72
Interpretation of the Findings in Light of the Conceptual Framework	72
Interpretation of the Findings in Light of the Empirical Literature	75

Limitations of the Study	81
Recommendations For Future Research	81
Implications	82
Conclusion	82
References	84
Appendix	93

# List of Tables

Table 1. Participants' Experience With Homeschooling	5
Table 2. Themes and Codes Aligned With Research Questions	59

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Children have been educated at home throughout U.S. history (McMullen, 2002). In the early years of the United States, homeschooling was the norm based on its practicality. In the 1850s and 1860s, homeschooling was later replaced to a considerable extent by a central education system run by the government at both the federal and state levels (Jolly et al., 2012). This shift in educational practice was the result of various societal changes, most notably the industrial revolution and immigration that required a central compulsory education system to support a proficient, cohesive, and competent workforce (Wilhelm & Firmin, 2009). These changes altered the prevalence of homebased education, thereby affecting its growth, transformation, and uncommonness at various times since the founding of the United States.

Home-based education reemerged in the second half of the 20th century, offering an alternative method of education from that of public schooling. Parents who elected home-based education valued more involvement in their children's education and control over curriculum and instruction (Jolly et al., 2012). Previously, the education of children had been dictated primarily by practicality and need as deemed essential by the local, state, and federal departments of education. In contrast, the second half of the 20th century and the beginning of the 21st century put the focus on parental choice and involvement. Parents seeking the most appropriate schooling for their children considered not only the academic needs of their children but also what was best suited for their emotional and social development (Lebeda, 2005). Whereas many parents believed the public school system to be the best avenue to meet the social and emotional needs of their

children, Lebeda's (2005) found that home-based education offered more opportunities for children to grow socially and emotionally

A primary question many prospective homeschooling parents have is how their children will make friends and socialize with peers (Kraftl, 2013). The social component plays an integral part in the emotional, social and overall development and well-being of children (Ekind, 2005). The experiences children have with peers during childhood greatly affects their social and academic development (Gardner, 1982). Numerous studies conducted on the interaction between homeschooling and socialization have found that homeschooled adolescents possess a strong commitment to social responsivity and go on to lead emotionally healthy lives as adults (Medlin, 2013; Murphy, 2013; Ray, 2015). In addition to positive social and emotional effects, Ray (2000) found that the homeschooled children, on average scored at or above the 80th percentile in all academic areas tested.

Though there is vast research available concerning the potential for positive social outcomes from homeschooling (Firmin et al., 2019), little research has been conducted on the actual socialization practices of homeschooled children (Pearlman-Avnion & Grayevsky, 2019) and how the parents of homeschooled children perceive those practices to affect their children's social and emotional development (Mazama, 2015). Though research has shown that homeschooled children grow up to be socially responsible and emotionally well-adjusted adults (Medlin, 2013), there is a gap in the research on how parents view and approach socialization between their children and their peers (Ray, 2015). Parents who are exploring the option of homeschooling would benefit from

learning how experienced parents of homeschoolers view the socialization component.

This study may provide information and insights for prospective homeschooling parents concerning their expectations for their children making and maintaining friendships while homeschooling. Furthermore, the study addressed how the execution of homeschooling practices addresses the social and emotional development of children.

In Chapter 1, I provide background information on homeschooling from an historical perspective to its modern-day relevance. Following the background is a presentation of the problem statement, purpose of the study, research questions, conceptual framework, and nature of the study. These elements are followed by a discussion of the definitions, assumptions, scope and limitations, and significance of the study. The chapter concludes with a summary of the main points of the chapter.

#### **Background**

To date, compulsory education laws demand all children attend public or state-accredited, private school for a set period of time (Glymour & Manly, 2018). Compulsory education is also known as standard education with specified curriculum. The only exemption from compulsory education is homeschooling, which has its own set of requirements as mandated by the state (Jolly et al., 2012). Prior to the establishment of the compulsory education system, in the early years of U.S. history, homeschooling was the primary method by which children were educated. Homeschooling was born out of a need for basic education, including acquisition of fundamental skills, such as reading and writing.

Homeschoolers of today are drawn to it in spite of other numerous schooling options available (Firmin et al., 2019; Wimhelm & Firmin, 2009). Whether parents cite academic, religious, or other reasons for homeschooling, the basis lies in parental control (Firmin et al., 2019). Educational reformers emphasized the benefits of parents as teachers in the home setting. Holt (1964) was a renowned educational reformer and progressive pedagogical thinker of the mid to late 20th century who advocated that parents remove their children from formal learning institutions because the parents could more effectively educate their children than the compulsory system could. Though believing that teachers in the compulsory education system were well intentioned, Holt maintained that the very nature of a standard classroom, which encourages the memorization of correct answers rather than self-directed learning, could not match a natural, home-based learning environment (McMullen, 2002).

Moore (1994), also a renowned educational reformer, drove the second push for the reemergence of homeschooling. Moore's advocacy of homeschooling focused on religious considerations, including personal values and beliefs that were not taught or recognized in the public-school system (McMullen, 2002). Many parents found homeschooling to offer them freedom from the secular infringement they believed to have a foothold in the public-school system (Kunzman, 2010).

Religious concerns continue to be held by a significant percentage of homeschooling parents, and they are joined by a growing number of parents with numerous other concerns about the public-school system (Gaither, 2009). The 2016 National Household Education Survey by the National Center for Education Statistics

found that 72% of respondents cited dissatisfaction with the academic instruction at public schools as a primary reason for homeschooling, and 90% responded to having a concern as to the overall environment of public schools (Cui & Hanson, 2019).

Other researchers have reported on additional specific reasons for homeschooling. A prevalent reason is the instillation of family values (Kunzman, 2010). Some parents want to focus on specific material, such as family history/heritage, to instill and foster individual identity (Mazama, 2015). Some parents want to protect their children from threats, such as bullying and other safety concerns, which they felt were prevalent in the public-school system (Hannah, 2012). Other parents turn to homeschooling in order to give attention to their special needs or gifted children (Olmstead, 2015). Parents often veer away from standard schooling because of what they see as limitations. As they better understand the homeschooling process, they gravitate toward homeschooling for its positive attributes and come to view homeschooling as a favorable action rather than a reaction against the limitations of public education (Medlin, 2000).

Homeschooling continues to be accepted as a sound approach to educating children because it offers more diverse societal appeal as a method that has adapted to society and technology and offers a schooling option for parents of different backgrounds (Gaither, 2009; Guterman & Neuman, 2017). Gaither (2009) explained that "Home schooling is blending with other education movements to lead the way toward a 21st century education matrix that is far more dynamic and adaptive than the schooling patterns of the past" (p. 1). Gaither debunked the stereotypical view that homeschooling is an isolated medium that cuts off children from other children because they do not share

classrooms with peers. Guterman and Neuman (2017) found that homeschooled children are involved in a large variety of social activities with peers and the adults in their lives even though their experiences are not relegated to one specific learning environment.

Gaither (2009) discussed how those unfamiliar with homeschooling would often stereotype homeschooled children as likely to be socially awkward. This notion comes from the fact that homeschooled children are not in a standard classroom for hours every day; thus, a commonly held assumption is that being in school with other children automatically guarantees social connectivity. This prompts questions for parents as to how their children will make friends if homeschooled in comparison to going to a standard school (Firmin et al., 2019).

Whether the outcomes are found as positive or negative, parents' perceptions of their children's social life may be based on what they think transpires in a standard school environment (Medlin, 2013). How their children make friends is considered helped by being in school (Lebeda, 2007). However, parents can play a more significant role in the socialization process of their children in the home setting. The research literature indicates limited understanding of how parents perceive the socialization of their children through home-based education (Guterman et al., 2017; Kunzman & Gaither, 2020). This study was needed to answer questions surrounding how homeschooling parents perceive the way in which homeschooling affects the socialization of their children, how homeschooling parents incorporate socialization methods as a primary focus in their homeschooling curriculum, and how homeschooled children socialize with peers.

#### **Problem Statement**

Little research has been done regarding the actual socialization practices of homeschooled children; specifically, how the parents of homeschooled children view and influence the socialization of their children (Mazama, 2015). Current research has found there are positive social outcomes associated with homeschooling (Firmin et al., 2019; Murphy, 2013). The literature shows that homeschooled students have a strong commitment to social responsivity (Green-Hennessy, 2014; Guterman & Neuman, 2017) and grow up to lead emotionally heathy lives rich in socialization and positive friendships with peers (Ray, 2015).

More research is needed on how homeschooling parents take into account stereotypical assumptions about their children lacking social skills and community competence (Firmin et al., 2019) and homeschooling parents' perceptions of how socialization plays into the education of their children. Ray (2015) suggested that more research is needed regarding which homeschooling practices help integrate socialization. Prospective homeschooling parents could benefit from such research in response to the question of how their children would make friends in a home learning environment.

# **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this study was to explore how homeschooling parents view socialization within their homeschooling practices. Based on the gap in the current research on the role socialization plays in the life of homeschooled children, the goal of this study was to provide an increased understanding of how socialization is implemented into homeschooling practices so that parents seeking clarity on the matter have a well-

informed perspective. In this study, I sought to understand parents' perceptions of how homeschooling affects the socialization of their elementary school-aged children. In addition, I examined how these parents perceive the role of peers concerning social development of their children and explored homeschooling practices parents use to foster socializing of their children. This study was undertaken with the intention that it answer queries from educators and potential homeschooling parents on the topic of socialization among homeschooled children.

#### **Research Questions**

Research Question 1 (RQ1): What are parents' perceptions of how homeschooling affects the socialization of their elementary school-aged children?

Research Question 2 (RQ2): In what ways, if any, do parents make socialization a component of homeschooling practices?

## **Conceptual Framework for the Study**

I used the concept of socialization as described by Medlin (2013, 2015) as the primary conceptual framework for this study. Socialization is defined as the manner by which individuals learn and attain the rules, values, and behaviors of their society (Grusec & Hastings, 2015). Acknowledging that socialization has varying interpretations, Medlin (2013) named three foci through which to better understand socialization:

- Social activity: The interaction homeschooled children have with friends and peers.
- Social influence: Teaching children how to navigate social norms.

 Social exposure: How children understand the cultures and values of those around them.

. Thirteen years after the initial major study on the connection of socialization and homeschooling, Medlin conducted a second review on the same topic and found that the three original, descriptive foci regarding socialization remained prevalent. Medlin found these foci to still be an insightful tool in researching the interactions of socializations and homeschooling. Medlin's three socialization foci served as the framework for this study and offered guidance to the development of the research and interview questions.

# Nature of the Study

In this study, I employed basic qualitative methodology (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016) to examine parents' perceptions of the phenomenon of socialization among homeschooled children. Data were collected virtually through semistructured interviews with eight parents who were homeschooling their elementary school-aged children. Open coding of the data illuminated key themes in the socialization process of homeschooled children.

#### **Definitions**

Compulsory education: The Education Act of 1880 required elementary education to be compulsory for children between the ages of 6 to 10 years old. Further legal adjustments altered the compulsory age for education as guided by individual state mandates, shifting the age for mandatory education between the ages of 5 and 18 years old, depending on each specific state (National Conference of State Legislatures, 2012).

Homeschooling: Also known as home-based education. The act of education in the home setting or an environment other than that of a standard school milieu. Parents are most often the primary educators in homeschooling along with outside tutors and specialized classes deemed advantageous (Holt & Farenga, 2003).

Socialization: The procedure by which humans learn, adjust, and develop behaviors from interactions with the world around them (Erikson, 1950). Socialization is the "process whereby people acquire the rules of behavior and systems of beliefs and attitudes that equip a person to function effectively as a member of a particular society" (Durkin, 1995, p. 614).

### **Assumptions**

I assumed that the socialization of their children, in addition to academic education, is important to the parents who participated in this study. Thus, I assumed that homeschooling parents would be open to talk about how their children make friends and function socially. The third assumption concerned my focus on parents of elementaryaged children because this is the age in which socialization begins and manifests exponentially in the developmental process (see Medlin, 2015). In terms of the sample, I assumed that having a participant pool of eight to 12 parents would lend to rich data and that a geographical spread of participants from two different regions of the United States would lead to findings that are less idiosyncratic.

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

The scope of the study was to interview parents from five families (ideally 10 parents) over a geographical span from the east coast of the United States to the midwest.

A primary delimitation was that the study focused on eight mothers in two-parent families. Another delimitation was the focus on elementary school-aged children. Other delimitations included choosing families to whom I had access through Zoom and email as well as the limited focus on interviewing parents, not the children.

#### Limitations

Limitations of the study included the small sample size and relying on only the parents' perceptions, and not including the children. Another primary limitation of the study was that it focused on the present and did not explore how parents feel about the socialization of their children after the schooling process has been completed.

# **Significance**

In this study, I attempted to understand how homeschooling parents address stereotypical concerns concerning the socialization practices of their children.

Understanding how homeschooled children make friends and get along with other children and peers can advance knowledge on how homeschooled children develop socially and emotionally. The goal was to provide insight for potential contributions to future policies and practices for prospective homeschooling parents by identifying specific practices regarding social interactions between homeschooled children and the world around them. Research has shown that homeschoolers are concerned with social responsibility and are positive contributors to their communities (Guterman et al., 2017). Therefore, further understanding of the connection between socialization practices and these found outcomes can promote future positive social change with the homeschooling community and related education fields.

#### **Summary**

Throughout U.S. history children have participated in home-based education due to either a fundamental need for knowledge as seen in the preindustrial revolution years (Jolly et al., 2012) or as made evident later in the 20th century by the resurgence of homeschooling made possible by the religious and pedagogical philosophies of Moore (1994) and Holt (1997). Homeschoolers of today are predominately concerned with pedagogical reasons for homeschooling rather than core values or religious interest (Jolly et al., 2012; Pearlman-Avnion & Grayevsky, 2019).

Whether students are educated in a standard public-school setting or learn at home, the experiences they have with peers during their childhood greatly affects their social and academic development (Gardner, 1982; Jolly et al., 2012; Ray, 2015). A review of the literature revealed that a primary concern with the exercise of homeschooling centers on how homeschooled children make friends. Though the literature shows that homeschooled students have a strong commitment to social responsivity (Green-Hennessy, 2014) and grow up to lead emotionally heathy lives fluent in socialization and positive friendships with peers (Ray, 2013), stereotypical concerns regarding developing positive social skills still exist. Because homeschooling parents are deeply involved in the education and day-to-day activities of their children, they have a significant role in the socialization of their children (Guterman et al., 2017).

There is limited understand of how homeschooled children socialize, and the topic has been the subject of scant research (Ray, 2013). Therefore, in Chapter 2, I analyze and review empirical literature and research related to how homeschooling parents perceive

the effects of homeschooling practices on the socialization of their children. In Chapter 2, I also investigate previous research related to which elements of homeschooling practices parents perceive as playing an important role in the socialization process and in what ways parents make socialization a focal point in the homeschooling environment.

#### Chapter 2: Literature Review

Throughout U.S. history children have participated in home-based education due to either a fundamental need for knowledge as seen in the preindustrial revolution years (Jolly et al., 2012) or as made evident later in the 20th century by the resurgence of homeschooling made possible by the religious and pedagogical philosophies of Moore (1994) and Holt (1997). Homeschoolers of today are predominately concerned with pedagogical reasons for homeschooling rather than core values or religious interest (Jolly et al., 2012; Pearlman-Avnion & Grayevsky, 2019).

Whether students are educated in a standard public-school setting or learn at home, the experiences they have with peers during their childhood greatly affects their social and academic development (Gardner, 1982; Jolly et al., 2012; Ray, 2015). A review of the literature revealed that a primary concern regarding the exercise of homeschooling centers on how homeschooled children make friends. Though the literature shows that homeschooled students have a strong commitment to social responsivity (Green-Hennessy, 2014) and grow up to lead emotionally heathy lives rich in socialization and positive friendships with peers (Ray, 2013), stereotypical concerns regarding developing positive social skills still exists. Because homeschooling parents are deeply involved in the education and day-to-day activities of their children, they have a significant role in the socialization of their children (Guterman et al., 2017).

There is a limited understanding of how homeschooled children socialize, and the topic has been the subject of scant research (Ray, 2013). Therefore, in Chapter 2, I analyze and review empirical literature and research related to how homeschooling

parents perceive the effects of homeschooling practices on the socialization of their children. Chapter 2 also includes an investigation of what specific elements of homeschooling practices parents perceive as playing an important role in the socialization process and in what ways do parents make socialization a focal point in the homeschooling environment.

In this chapter, I describe the search strategy used for the review of literature. The conceptual framework, centering on the theory of socialization and related components, is also discussed. Key themes explored in the literature review include stereotypical assertions and misconceptions of homeschooling, which include subsections on socialization, academic achievement, debates over standardized tests, and parental band student isolation. Other themes include practices within homeschooling to foster socialization with subsections on making friends, freedom of environment, and technological innovations. The chapter concludes with a summary of the main points.

# **Literature Search Strategy**

To locate literature for this review, I searched the following keywords and phrases in Education Source, Google Scholar, ERIC, Walden Library search and JOSTER: socialization and homeschooling, homeschooling disadvantages, homeschooling advantages, social activities in homeschooling, social influence in homeschooling, social exposure of school aged children, homeschooling studies, homeschooling methodology, educational approaches through homeschooling, community and homeschooling, societal influence on homeschooling, homeschooling practices and homeschooling trends.

Literature was also found from references cited in other relevant peer-reviewed articles and sources.

## **Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework for this study centered on socialization. The act of socialization is not relegated to a time or to a location (Steiner, 1906/1996) and can be viewed from various vantage points (Medlin, 2000). For the purposes of this study, socialization was defined as the "process whereby people acquire the rules of behavior and systems of beliefs and attitudes that equip a person to function effectively as a member of a particular society" (Durkin, 1995, p. 614). This definition is similar to an earlier one provided by Erikson (1950): the manner by which individuals learn, develop, and adjust their behaviors is derived from their social interactions with the world around them

Over 30 years of personal research and the analysis of the research of others on the topic of socialization and homeschooling, Medlin (2013) found that rather than using a broad understanding of socialization, an in-depth study requires a narrower focus that can be accomplished with three socialization foci:

- Social activity: The interaction homeschooled children have with friends and peers.
- Social influence: Teaching children how to navigate social norms.
- Social exposure: How children understand the cultures and values of those around them (Medlin, 2000, p. 107).

I used Medlin's socialization foci as the framework for this study and to develop the RQs.

Previous researchers found the first social foci, social activity, to be the most prevalent concern for both homeschooling parents and those questioning the socialization aspect of home-based education (Medlin, 2000/2013; Ray, 2015; Romanowski, 2006). In much of the research on socialization regarding homeschooling, social influence and social exposure were found to be relevant and strongly connected to social activity and not isolated foci (Medlin, 2013). Medlin (2000) explained that the three foci are variations of the interpretations of socialization by people with different viewpoints.

The three foci target specific themes throughout previous research studies. Though often not mentioned by name, Medlin (2013) found that the meaning of each of the foci were relevant throughout the literature. These three foci always circle back to the central theme of socialization and how children learn and develop through interaction with the world around them (Medlin, 2013). In this literature review, I show the interplay of the three foci and their importance to understanding the socialization that occurs within the homeschooling context.

# **Literature Review Related to Key Concepts**

To date, the scholarly literature on homeschooling remains limited (Kunzman & Gaither, 2020). Among the limitations is the unavailability of demographic data that is a result of inattention to data collection by many government educational organizations (Kunzman & Gaither, 2020/2013) and inconsistencies among the states. Some states require homeschoolers to register and keep meticulous records, while other states keep no records at all; therefore, those seeking an accurate overall account of homeschoolers and their methodologies are disadvantaged (Carlson, 2020). When there are limitations in

reliable quantitative data, researchers tend to conduct qualitative studies with small sample sizes (Pearlman-Avnion & Grayevsky, 2019).

Brian Ray, Ph.D. independently and in conjunction with the National Home Education Research Institute has been the dominant contributor to research-based homeschooling advocacy (Ray, 2000,2013,2015). Another leading contributor to homeschooling research has been the Home School Legal Defense Association, which has funded the school choice conversation through initiatives, such as the Global Home Education Exchange conferences that are held to broaden schooling options for parents around the world (Kunzman & Gaither, 2020).

Along with private organizations, a select group of independent researchers have dedicated years to the study of homeschooling and have published findings over the past 20–30 years, such as Medlin (2013), Guterman and Neuman (2017), Romanowski (2006), Beck (2010), and Pearlman-Avnion and Grayevsky (2019). These researchers often revisited previously published work with critiques and reassessments. Their interpretations have highlighted specific factors that inform and clarify assertions on homeschooling that are well founded and those that require further investigation.

Medlin (2013) wrote an article "Home Schooling and the Question of Socialization Revisited," in which the author reaffirmed the main assertions and conclusions originally published in 2000. Though the two studies were 13 years apart, Medlin found that socialization has an integral place in homeschooling practices and that the three foci of socialization were a useful tool in narrowing the focal point of the

research on the topic. My literature search was guided by Medlin's (2000) three foci: social activity, social influence, and social exposure.

## Stereotypical Assertions and Misconceptions of Homeschooling

Though homeschooling was the main method of education prior to 1850 and once again became popular in the 1970s, stereotypical misconceptions and assertions about homeschooling remain (Jolly et al., 2012). Brooke Haugh (2014), a homeschooling mother and PhD student in Education, wrote an article in the *Journal of Unschooling and Alternative Learning* where she explained how her number one concern in consideration to homeschool was the socialization of her children. Haugh explained that "what about socialization?" was the first question anyone asked her when she told them she was going to homeschool. Haugh explained that throughout her experience homeschooling, she had confidence that her children had and would continue to have opportunities for socialization which, like the rest of homeschooling, would contribute to their healthy social development.

#### Socialization

Ray (2013) explained that homeschooling parents refer to this as the "S" question because nearly all homeschoolers, both parents and students, encounter the "what about socialization?" question throughout and after their homeschooling experience. Haugh (2014) wrote that the question, "How will your kids make friends?" t(a reference to the social activity focus) is often a follow-up question. Another follow-up question is "How will your kids learn proper behavior?" (a reference to social influence) and "How will your kids learn about different people and how to get along in society?" (a reference to

social exposure). These questions are commonplace given that the institutionalization of educating children aged 6–18 years old has been the societal norm for multiple generations (Ray, 2013).

Current research has indicated that development of social awareness skills and civic values "is not dependent on whether a child is educated at school or at home" (Perlman-Avnion & Grayevsky, 2019). In their mixed-method study, Perlman-Avnion and Grayevsky (2019) found no significant differences between public-schooled and homeschooled students in the realm of their social self-efficacy and civic engagement exercises. In their qualitative study, Guterman and Neuman (2017) found that homeschooled children interact with a large variety of people on a regular basis in numerous venues and have shown to grow into socially responsible adults. These findings concur with the concept that the act of socialization is not relegated to a time or more importantly to a location (Kay & King, 2020; Steiner, 1906/1996).

Contradictory to the stereotypical belief that homeschooled children are emotionally and socially inept (Firmin et al., 2019), many studies conducted over the past 20 years found that homeschooled students showed to be emotionally healthy children (Grant, 2011; Lebeda, 2007; Mazama, 2015; Medlin, 2013, 2020). In a study of 74 sets of African American homeschooling parents and students, Mazama (2015) found that the homeschooled children in the study grew up to be adults committed to doing their part for their communities and society. Mazama found that because these parents made identity a significant portion of the curriculum, their children had a great sense of self as well as social responsibility and respected both themselves and people from other cultures, races,

and ethnicities. Grant (2011) had similar findings and observed that homeschooled students connect to their community and feel a deep sense of social responsibility.

In a qualitative study, Grant (2011) also found that participants reported to have close friendships with other children both within and outside of the schooling arena. Grant discovered that students connected with other students of similar interests through digital technology, such as online classes, student chat groups and online study sessions, regardless of their peers' schooling status. Kraftl (2013) had similar findings to those of Grant. Building friendships based on commonalities has been found to unite children and promote positive social engagement (Johnson, 2013). When children interact with peers of similar interests, such as those of sports, other extracurricular activities, or academic subjects, they bond in a natural and organic fashion (Medlin, 2013).

Homeschooling allows for organic social bonding between peers because homeschooling practices offer a greater number of social encounters for students because the curriculum is generally based largely on the individual interests of students (Murphy, 2014). Kris Bales (2020), a homeschooling mom of 25 years and founder of a homeschooling website and blog, explained that rather than having friends chosen for them by a predetermined class structure created by a public-school demographic, homeschooled kids choose friendships based on common interests, such as sports, music, art, and literature. In addition, she explained how homeschooled children are apt to meet peers of similar interests through their pursuit of hobbies, such as community theater or drama clubs, dance, sports and volunteering.

In their mixed-method study concerning the place of new technologies within schooling practices, Furlong and Davies (2012) surveyed 1,069 students aged 8 to 21 years old concerning their use of new technologies in both schooling and home areas on interest. They found that homeschooled children often had a larger social circle than students in the public schools and more chances to interact with other children of the same or differing age range. The authors concluded that homeschooling learning practices encourage freedom to learn through numerous venues while engaging with likeminded peers. According to Hanna (2011), homeschooling parents work hard to adapt to new innovations to better aid their children both academically and socially.

In a 10-year, mixed-method, longitudinal study of 250 homeschooling families, Hanna (2011) found that homeschooling parents enthusiastically take on new methods and techniques to meet the academic and social needs of their children. The homeschoolers studied by Hanna contained a vast and diverse demographic that unanimously agreed that socialization was made part of the curriculum through parental direction and guidance on each child's individual interests. Echoing the findings of Hanna, Baidi (2019) concluded that homeschooling parents make socialization activities a priority and perceive their children to have positive peer relationships with other children. In addition, homeschooling parents also perceive their children to have an abundance of social opportunities that gives them a diverse circle of friends (Firmin et al., 2019). In accordance with Furlong and Davies (2012), Firmin et al. (2012), and Baidi, Ray (2015) found socialization to be a priority and prominently positive aspect of homebased education due to the importance placed upon it by parents.

Despite a plethora of research citing positive social outcomes of homeschooling, misconceptions and myths on how homeschoolers socialize remain among nonhomeschoolers (Firmin et al., 2019). Romanowski (2006) explained that a common argument against homeschooling is that sheltering children from the real world deprives them from needed knowledge and social interaction, and since homeschooled children do not attend school, they are therefore socially disadvantaged. This concept presupposes homeschooled children interact only with their families and have limited exposure to the outside world, an assumption that is strongly opposed by modern day homeschoolers and contradictory to research findings such as those listed above (Firmin et al., 2019).

In response to the assumptions of homeschooling critics, veteran homeschoolers, such as the Colfaxs (1988), have cited both research findings and their own experience on the matter of socialization with homeschooling. Though they wrote their book on homeschooling over 30 years ago, current literature shows that the Colfaxs's belief that homeschooled children are properly socially adept is a belief shared by modern day homeschoolers. Homeschooling parents believe their children to be socially well rounded and equipped on how to get along with a wide range of people (Guterman & Neuman, 2017). Guterman and Neuman (2017) found that many of the social encounters of homeschooled children were linked to community social activities that were based on common community goals rather than age or demographic. Homeschooling parents perceive homeschooling practices to enable their children to develop and mature in the real world, with people of all races and gender, and that it broadens world understanding and social responsibility (Mazama, 2015).

Socialization is a crucial element of the homeschooling process, one that homeschooling parents take very seriously (Forrester, 2017). Socialization-related concerns with the public-school system were the primary reason 67% of homeschooling parents homeschool their children (McQuiggan et al., 2017). The research literature shows that many homeschooling parents did not like the social exposure their children were having and what they felt to be negative socialization outcomes in the public-school arena (e.g., bullying, peer-pressure and primarily cultural differences). These parents homeschool, in part, to build "personalized resistance against a broader culture that does not reflect their values" (McQuiggan et al., 2017 p. 276) and to offer a more expansive range of opportunities for social and individual needs (Medlin, 2013).

#### **Academic Achievement**

Hanna (2012) indicated that many critics of homeschooling cite lack of teaching credentials by parents as a natural hindrance to ensuring a proper education for children. Critics of homeschooling also cite lack of experience and knowhow on the part of parents as primary concerns on the quality of teaching methodology and practice (Kunzman & Gaither, 2020). Homeschooling parents counter these claims of inevitable incompetence by explaining that the art of home-based education allows parents the time, freedom, and resources to evaluate what practices and methods can best facilitate learning by their children. Though these parents may not have certification to teach in the public-school system, review of the literature showed that a high percentage of homeschooling parents have attended some degree of higher education and exhibit resourcefulness and commitment when planning how to educate their children (Siraj-Blatchford, 2010).

#### **Debates Over Standardized Tests**

Critics of homeschooling are preponements of standardized tests as an important factor when evaluating the educational progression of students. Given that homeschoolers are not tested as regularly as public-school students, critics surmise that the evaluation of academic progress of homeschooled children is lacking (Yu et al., 2016). Though standardized testing procedures have been disparaged by many leading psychologists and educators for not having the capacity to assess multiple intelligences of students (Gardner, 2006), they are still exercised more than any other method due to their application to the majority study body. Application to the mass is one primary objection homeschooling parents express on the matter of standardized tests (Furlong & Davies, 2012). Many homeschoolers want their children taught and academically assessed on an individual evaluation basis (Martin-Chang et. al. 2011).

Critics of homeschooling and proponents of standardized testing believe that all children should not be academically assessed in a general manner (Medlin, 2013). Homeschoolers contest that assumption by explaining that educational progression can be calculated in numerous ways (Gardner, 2011) and that standardized tests do not account for all academic advancement (Hardenbergh, 2015). Though children in a public classroom may be of similar age and demographic, their learning may differ greatly based on their unique set of intelligences (Gardner, 1999). Having a standard curricula and testing method does not lend to the possibility that students learn and develop in different ways (Elkind, 1976). Though homeschooling parents suggest that not all methods of evaluation should be subjected to standardized practices they do fervently cite numerous

studies which favorably compare the test scores of homeschooled kids to those in the public-school system (Lubienski et al., 2013).

Critics of homeschooling also suggest that homeschooled students do not receive the same level of education as public-school students and consequently will have trouble taking standardized tests for college admission (Romanowski, 2006). Homeschoolers contest this notion by citing numerous studies which indicate homeschooled students to test on par or at a higher level than their public-school counterparts (Baidi, 2019). While some studies found little or no difference in grade point averages and standardized tests scores between homeschooled and public-schooled children of the same demographic (Bennet et al., 2019; Yu et al., 2016), other studies found homeschooled students to have significantly higher grade point average and ACT composite scores than their public-school counterparts (Firmin et al., 2019; Kunzman & Gaither, 2013; Lubienski et al., 2013; Ray, 2015).

Another area of criticism for homeschooling is a lack of structure in the homeschool environment (Medlin, 2013). Critics of homeschooling claim that homebased education lacks a central system of learning which instills structure and schedule for students (Guterman & Neuman, 2017). The literature reveals that a wide range of structure exists among homeschoolers and the curricula chosen for each homeschooling family. While some families elect to use standard curricula that could be found in a public-school setting, others choose a less structured approach often exercising elements of Montessori or other "learning through experience" routines (Firmin et al., 2019). The literature also showed that many homeschooling parents elect to hire private, well-trained

teachers to come into their homes to teach subjects that they feel need further expertise than the parents can offer (Ray, 2015). Modern day homeschoolers use technology and the availability of online classes, resources, instructors, methods and easily assessable material (Furlong & Davies, 2012) for educational purposes as well.

Critics of homeschooling also contend that students learn more when in a classroom environment with peers of the same age and demographic (Guzerman & Nueman, 2017; Romanowski, 2006). Homeschoolers agree that socialization is an important element in the learning process (Medlin, 2013). However, the literature showed that homeschooling parents perceive socialization to play a vital role in the education of their children in far more numerous ways than just that of the classroom setting (Firman et al., 2019). Homeschooled students learn alongside peers of various backgrounds thereby encouraging understanding of diversity and societal differences (Guterman & Neuman, 2017b). The social encounters of homeschooled children in relation to learning is considered very important and varies from one homeschooling family to another due to the use of different educational methodologies (Ray, 2015). The number of educational social encounters varies between homeschooling families as does the demographic of peers included in those social experiences (Guterman & Neuman, 2017b).

Homeschoolers assert that their children have more opportunity to learn and grow both academically and socially than public school children because homeschooling encompasses many forms of learning circumstances such as group learning, one on one tutoring, in home learning as well as on site learning and online courses (Firmin et al., 2019). Homeschoolers also believe that children grow and more fully develop socially

and academically than public school children because homeschooled children interact with differing ages and demographical groups enabling them to better learn from other cultures and understandings (Mazama, 2015; Medlin, 2013).

Through observation of 74 sets of African American homeschooling parents and students, Mazama (2015) found a commonality which united participants was their strong sense of identity as African Americans which they considered an important element in both education and social responsibility. Through the subject article Mazama illustrated how homeschooling practices offer attention and guidance for individual needs such as ethnic group identity, personal values, religion and philosophy while appreciating and respecting peers from diverse backgrounds and differing ethnic groups. Medlin (2013) found homeschooled children to be happy, optimistic, well-rounded, and satisfied with their sense of identity and place in the world. Medlin also found homeschoolers to be energetic and motivated to engage in community affairs and well-versed in engaging with others from different cultures and backgrounds. Though the study by Mazama was centered on African American homeschoolers, the findings echo those of Medlin: homeschooled children have a deep sense of who they are and value peers from different backgrounds and cultures.

#### **Parental and Student Isolation**

Many critics of homeschooling suggest that the choice to homeschool places both parents and children in a state of isolation from their community and society (Medlin, 2013). Veteran homeschoolers David and Micki Colfax (1988) explained that "homeschooled children are seldom, if ever socially isolated" because they have "more

opportunities to interact with a wide range of people" than those in public schools (p. 101). As will be discussed in the following sections, homeschooled children have various opportunities to make friends through the open environment enabled by homeschooling practices (Medlin, 2020). Homeschoolers contend that the freedom of the homeschooling environment allows children to find peers of similar interests and commonalities which develops into strong social bonds with friends (Ray, 2015).

Homeschooling parents are not isolated as many outsiders to homeschooling contend, but rather connect with other like-minded parents through support groups, homeschooling workshops, activities and online resources such as homeschool teacher and mom blogs, podcasts, articles and webinars (Tipton, 2019). Homeschooling parents have numerous options to engage with other homeschooling parents through these resources and discuss everything from curriculum planning to homeschooling meetups, to new state regulation, to favorite homeschooling field trips (Martin, 2020/2014). From local in-person support groups to Facebook groups, homeschooling parents of 2020 have far more opportunities to interact and support and encourage than ever before (Demme, 2015; Mazama, 2015).

# **Practices Within Homeschooling to Foster Socialization**

Though many homeschooling parents believe that learning takes place in an ongoing fashion, not relegated to time and place (Kunzman, 2012), they make socialization an intentional part of the curriculum by arranging for a variety of outside activities with peers of the same, similar or different ages (Medlin, 2013; Ray, 2013). Homeschooling parents perceive peer relationships to be very important for their children

and tailor socialization activities to their children's individual needs and personalities (Medlin, 2020). This close attention to addressing the individual interests of every child enables children to meet peers with similar interests and hobbies and develop close friendships based on fundamental social similarities (Mazama, 2015).

## **Making Friends**

Like public school children, homeschooled children play with other children on a regular basis (Beck, 2010). Beck (2010) explained that homeschooling allowed maintenance of parental attachment to one's children while concurrently arranging for the types of social interactions for which the children were ready. Beck went on to explain concern that enrollment in public-school would force upon the children social situations and peer attachments in which they were not interested or for which they were not ready. Homeschooling enabled Beck to provide social outlets such as homeschool groups, play dates and other extra curricular activities best suited to the children.

Homeschooling parents make socialization a priority through both routinely organized activities and enabling natural social setting experiences like encouraging children to play with neighbors and peers from commonly shared activities (Firmin et al., 2019). Homeschooled children play with children who go to public school, as well as other homeschooled children (Haugh, 2014). Having a free environment was the primary reason given for fostering homeschooled children to have a diverse demographic of friends and peers (Medlin, 2013; Ray, 2015; Romanowski, 2006).

#### Freedom of Environment

Homeschooling practices are based on the premise that parents should have the ability to arrange for optimal social interactions through freedom of environment and natural circumstance (Medlin, 2020). Since every homeschooled student is different, so is every homeschooling home which means no two homeschooling environments are identical (Hanna, 2011). Unlike the public-school system where education generally takes daily place in a classroom with the same students, the free nature of the homeschooling environment allows for interaction between students from varying groups and demographic (Jolly et al., 2013).

Society often views and therefore treats school as the foremost forum for learning, as well as social and academic growth for students (Grant, 2011). Grant (2011) went on to add that this societal view of the schooling process thereby separates the home from the school which makes it challenging for students to connect the two venues. Homeschooling parents believe that one highlight of homeschooling is that though, for some, there may be a structured curriculum and schedule, learning is not thought of as needing to take place in one specific place or at one fixed time of day. Social and academic growth goes on independent of location because the emphasis is on the experience, not specifically where and when the experience is taking place (Kunzman, 2012).

#### **Technological Innovations and Their Effect on Homeschooling**

The literature showed that new technology of the past 30 years, specifically the internet, has greatly aided the rise of homeschooling by connecting homeschooling

parents to other homeschoolers, enabling homeschoolers to retrieve the most up to date homeschooling law and requirement information, as well as receiving curriculum assistance in the actual learning process through online classes and instruction (Furlong & Davies, 2012). As many other homeschooling resources, Home School Legal Defense Association (HSLDA), a well-known resource to many veteran homeschoolers, has become an increasingly accessible and useful tool to homeschoolers due to the creation and rise on technological innovations such as the internet. Online resources like HSLDA guide homeschooling parents on state requirements and laws, curriculum, support groups, peer meetups, peer interaction and individual assistance to offer freedom to personalize educational goals and realize individual potential (https://hslda.org).

HSLDA reported that the number people choosing to homeschool is currently at an all-time high and may change the way the public views education moving forward ((https://hslda.org). As children grow and develop, so does their acquisition of knowledge which is why the free learning environment of homeschooling better suits human nature than the standard public-school setting where the primary space for learning in a classroom (Murphy, 2014). Modern technology goes everywhere with students and answers the curiosity and interest in subjects of all areas of study (Hanna, 2011). The internet has enabled homeschoolers direct and easy access to online resources like HSLDA aiding their educating purpose and intention.

According to Pell (2018), who conducted a qualitative study which included 316 homeschoolers from 52 different locations across the globe, homeschoolers perceive technology to provide their children with high quality education through individualized

instruction and curriculum. The study also found that homeschoolers believe technology creates a constructive and engaging learning environment for their children. Another study of 29 homeschooling parents showed participants perceived technology facilitated their ability to properly homeschool their children by enabling them to play multiple roles in the education of their children (Gann & Carpenter, 2019).

Review of the literature showed that though trips to the library, museums and other learning arenas were popular exercises in learning, the use of cell phones, computers, and iPads were also consistently mentioned as important research tools (Hanna, 2011). The ease and accessibility of information enabled by the internet on digital technology spans a diverse demographic spectrum, broadening the scope of people seeking knowledge and connecting individuals from all over the world. Knowledge is no longer limited by the number of books in the library, or personal interaction with local community members. Homeschoolers reported that using the internet to browse and look up specific material broadened knowledge, interest, reference; and social connectivity (Furlong & Davies, 2012).

In addition to the vast opportunity for knowledge and positive social engagement made possible by the internet, review of the literature also showed the internet to be matter of concern of homeschooling parents (Hanna, 2011). Accessibility to material parents deemed inappropriate or unfit for their children provided by the internet is an issue homeschoolers take seriously (Grant, 2011). In addition to preset digital parental controls of their children's technology, consistent parental involvement by homeschooling parents was mentioned as the tool most prevalent in the dealing with the

matter of unwanted exposure to inappropriate material (Pell, 2018). Closely monitoring their children's daily lives, schedules, friends, schoolwork, and projects, in connection with an open relationship was shown throughout the literature as the manner through which parents dealt with the challenges of modern technology. Homeschooling afforded parents the ability to meet these challenges (Furlong & Davies, 2012).

## The Impact of COVID-19 on Homeschooling

Due to modern day circumstances brought about by COVID-19, distance and remote learning is no longer primarily relegated to homeschoolers (Krumsvik, 2020). Parents who never even considered homeschooling were thrown into taking charge of their children's learning when the pandemic hit, and many have decided to continue to homeschool their children going forward as learning practices in the public-school system are unsettled for the foreseeable future (Ali, 2020). Many states have temporarily altered or relaxed their homeschooling laws and requirements, and parents find themselves in a position of monitoring these actions on a regular basis using resources like HSLDA (https://hslda.org).

Today, as people in U.S. society, and much of the world, are unable to experience many cultural activities such as visiting museums and other public venues due to the pandemic, the internet is the primary manner by which students "virtually" experience these venues (Krumsvik, 2020). Though the internet has been widely used by public-school students previously, those schooling at home due to the pandemic can attest that learning does not necessarily need to be relegated to a specific place (Ali, 2020), as veteran homeschoolers have historically suggested (Kunzman, 2012).

### **Summary and Conclusions**

To date, homeschooling continues to maintain its places as an educational alternative to public school (Kunzman & Gaither, 2020). The literature showed homeschooled students to score higher or on par on both academic achievement and social tests with their public-school counter parts of same age and demographic (Firmin et al, 2019). The literature also showed that homeschooled children grow up to be valuable members of society with a strong sense of community responsibility (Ray, 2015). In contrast to stereotypical concerns such as a lack of peer friendships, the research showed that homeschooled children maintain positive social connectivity with friends throughout the lives (Medlin, 2013).

Other stereotypical concerns by critics of homeschooling found in the literature were student and parental isolation, lack of structure, inability to take standardized tests and an overall social and emotional ineptness (McQuiggan et al., 2017). Review of the literature showed that homeschooling parents perceive the need for socialization to be very serious and integrate many methods to address these stereotypical concerns (Forrester, 2017). Homeschoolers utilize many resources such as the internet to connect to other homeschooling parents; to access curricula, online classes, and academic instruction; as well as to make use of social connectivity offered by support groups and online interaction (Firmin et al. 2019). Further literature review showed that homeschooled students achieve high marks on standardized tests and excel when reaching the college level (Ray, 2015).

The literature review showed a gap in research on how homeschooling parents perceive socialization within their homeschooling practices and the role of socialization in the overall method of homeschooling. This study addresses the gap in the research as to what specific homeschooling practices are used to foster positive social interaction. This study is also meant to fill the gap in understanding how homeschooled children make friends and maintain positive social connections considering conflicting stereotypical assumptions. This study means to extend knowledge on the matter of socialization within homeschooling education practices so that potential homeschoolers can understand how their children would potentially socialize with peers.

In Chapter 3 I set forth the methodology exercised in conducting the study. In addition, the methodology indicates the models, approach, sampling, data collection and data analysis used in the study.

## Chapter 3: Methodology

The purpose of this study was exploring how homeschooling parents view socialization within their homeschooling practices. Based on the gap in the current research on the role socialization plays in the life of homeschooled children, in this study I sought to provide an increased understanding of how socialization is implemented into homeschooling practices so that parents seeking clarity on the matter have a well-informed perspective. Additionally, I sought to develop an understanding of parents' perceptions of how homeschooling affects the socialization of their elementary schoolaged children, which homeschooling practices parents use to foster socializing of their children, and the role of peers concerning the social development of their children. My intention with this study was to answer queries from educators and potential homeschooling parents on the topic of socialization among homeschooled children.

## **Research Design and Rationale**

The following RQs guided this study:

RQ1: What are parents' perceptions of how homeschooling affects the socialization of their elementary school-aged children?

RQ2: In what ways, if any, do parents make socialization a component of homeschooling practices?

I used the concept of socialization as described by Medlin (2013, 2015) as the primary framework for this study. Socialization is defined as the manner by which individuals learn and attain the rules, values, and behaviors of their society (Grusec &

Hastings, 2015). Acknowledging that socialization has varying interpretations, Medlin (2013) named three foci to better understand socialization:

- Social activity: The interaction homeschooled children have with friends and peers.
- Social influence: Teaching children how to navigate social norms.
- Social exposure: How children understand the cultures and values of those around them.

Thirteen years after an initial study on the connection of socialization and homeschooling, Medlin (2013) conducted a second review on the same topic and found the three original, descriptive foci regarding socialization remained prevalent. Medlin discovered these foci to still be an insightful tool in researching the interactions of socialization and homeschooling. Medlin's three socialization foci comprised the conceptual framework for this study and guided the development of the research and interview questions.

In this study, I employed the basic qualitative methodology to examine parents' perceptions of the phenomenon of socialization among elementary school-aged, homeschooled children. Data were collected through semistructured interviews with eight parents who were homeschooling their elementary school-aged children. Thematic analysis of the collected data using open coding resulted in key themes regarding the socialization process of homeschooled children.

#### Role of the Researcher

As the researcher, I was cognizant of my role to consciously separate interpretation and judgement from description while being aware of my preconceived notions, expectations, and biases (see Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). The importance of reliability and trustworthiness was kept at the forefront of all data collection (see Patton, 2015). When interviewing, I was clear about my role as observer, capturing the views as expressed by the participants through rich description as they shared their experiences in response to the interview questions (see Patton, 2015).

I studied homeschoolers for several years and networked within several homeschooling groups, which enabled me to get to know homeschoolers and furthered my interest in the subject of homeschooling as well as provided me with ideas and conceptions on the subject as a whole. My job as researcher was to guide and direct interviews in order to stay on track. My objective was to make participants comfortable and engaged in relating their experiences of the phenomenon under discussion. It was my job as an interviewer to collect data, not to change opinions or sway public policy but rather to attempt to fill the gap in the research in order to inform others (see Patton, 2015).

The primary reason I selected the basic qualitative approach for the study was to understand the participants' experiences in connection with their lives of homeschooling. How the researcher assesses the validity of the experiences of the participants can influence the outcome of a study. The way in which people understand their experiences can take on different constructs and meanings based on their individual views. In order to

address the researcher's assessment and despite the inability of the researcher to perfectly capture an objective truth, strategies have been created to help increase the ability for credible answers to complex questions (Merriam & Tidell, 2016). Accordingly, I used hand coding for this study. The use of hand coding enabled me to match up common themes among the participants and comprehend a generalized understanding of the participants' perspectives.

## Methodology

I used the basic qualitative approach in this study because my purpose was to understand the participants and make sense of their experiences (see Patton, 2015). The basic qualitative approach enabled me to comprehend the participants' perspectives and experiences in the area of interest which to date has been the subject of limited research. I used mixed, purposeful sampling in selecting participants with the goal of attaining rich data from the specific population of homeschooling parents.

## Participant Population Selection, Recruitment Procedures, and Participation

There are no exact rules for determining sample size in a qualitative inquiry; however, there are guidelines on what sample size would best facilitate a representative population. The sample size did not need to be a certain number of participants but rather the appropriate size to offer insight into the phenomenon being studied. I used a mixed, purposeful, convenience sample and allowed room for opportunistic and emergent sampling if such circumstances came to pass during the interview process (see Patton, 2015).

I emailed potential interviewees an initial invitation to participate in the study, and upon their response of interest, I sent them a follow-up authorization of consent to participate in the study. There were five criteria for inclusion in this study, participants had to have (a) used homeschooling as the primary educational venue for a minimum of 3 years for their elementary-aged children, (b) a minimum of two children currently being homeschooled, (c) held a post-high school degree, (d) been from a two-parent home in which either both parents coeducate or where one parent acts the primary supervisory homeschooling parent, and (e) access to meeting on Zoom for interviewing purposes. I copied their answers into the interview guide so that the questions, answers, probes, and comments were clear for data analysis. Themes were compiled through manually coding them into a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet to ensure clarity and understanding of the responses.

#### Instrumentation

I conducted interviews with semistructured questions following the interview protocol guide (see Appendix). The interview guide was directed by the RQs and corresponding conceptual framework. The interview guide contained the interview questions as well as possible probes and space to indicate researcher comments. In addition to the data gathered through in-depth, semistructured interviews, journal notes were another source of data (see Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

#### **Data Collection**

I conducted semistructured interviews with the participants in a virtual format using Zoom. I interviewed eight parents and stopped when I accomplished data

saturation. I followed several steps (as described in Chapter 3) to enhance trustworthiness.

# **Data Analysis Plan**

The first step in data analysis was arranging the data by transcribing the interviews and placing them into a Microsoft Word document. This allowed me to organize the data and create a spreadsheet for responses to the interview questions. In the next step, I highlighted participants' responses to create codes. The highlighting method was used again to indicate the additional answers to the follow-up questions. I used the RQs to guide the identification of categories while remaining open to other categories that may have emerged. Simultaneously, I identified emerging themes and connected them to the relevant category. Comparing data using reflective journal notes assisted me in validating the data, and the second round of coding using patterns allowed me to find and confirm categories and the identified themes (see Saldaña, 2016).

My plan for data analysis contained the use of hand coding. Before going through the process of coding, it was important to determine whether I was going to use inductive or deductive coding. After investigating both methods, it was evident that the two are not mutually exclusive and that my study would gain from the combination of both coding techniques (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016). The qualitative data analysis process requires creativity, intellect, and hard work, according to Patton (2015). As the researcher, I needed to be the one deciding what constitutes a theme, what to name it, and so on (see Patton, 2015). Hand coding enabled me to get a firsthand connection with the transcripts and data.

#### Issues of Trustworthiness

## Credibility

The data collected must be credible as part of a research plan that provides reliable knowledge in an ethical fashion (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). The results of the data collection must be deemed valid and reliable to be accepted as valuable and relevant knowledge to assist in the deeper understanding of the topic under discussion. Internal validity is useful because it denotes cause and effect, giving relevance to the specific situation under consideration (Patton, 2015). I chose the basic qualitative research design for this study because it was the most relevant and appropriate method by which to collect data due to its aim to understand the participants and make sense of their experiences.

# **Transferability**

The aim of the interview data collected in this study was to make sense of the experiences homeschooling parents have had regarding the socialization of their elementary school-aged children. The use of transferability relies on the applicability of the findings to other similar, but not identical, occurrences in the same area of interest, thereby going beyond the narrow confines of the data collected (Patton, 2015). Reporting of the data must be filled with information-rich samples and designs that produce opportunity for extrapolation of the findings to assist present and future efforts on the matter of interest. The external validity of this study could very well play a role in the implementation of socialization practices for children in other learning environments outside the homeschooling arena.

## **Dependability**

Dependability of the data strengthens the need for validity and reliability. Qualitative research strategies include, but are not limited to, adequate time for and engagement in data collection, self-reflection on the part of the researcher to limit bias and assumptions, peer review where the researcher confers with colleagues on the process of the study, an audit trail where a detailed account of all procedures is documented, and member checks (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

## **Confirmability**

As Patton (2015) explained, adding depth and detail to qualitative data is one component to confirming and elucidating findings. In order to attain such a goal and establish confirmability, a study must be clearly outlined by the researcher with indication of the conceptual framework, research design, data collection, analysis procedure, and data management (Yin, 2014). As I collected data, I revisited my journal notes to confirm the importance of themes and patterns. I also used reflection and responsiveness to ensure the findings were free from researcher biases and my personal viewpoints (see Patton, 2015).

#### **Ethical Procedures**

The role of the researcher is to act as interviewer in the pursuit of knowledge in an area of interest under investigation. Ethical practices must be at the forefront of all qualitative research to ensure validity, clarity, transparency, trustworthiness, and credibility (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). I emailed potential interviewees an initial invitation to participate in the study, and upon their response of interest, I sent a follow-

up authorization of consent to participate in the study. The participants were then emailed the entire protocol and interview guide so that they had the material on hand as we conducted the Zoom interview. The interview guide was complete with clear language and numbered questions as well as my cell phone number in case the participant needed to reach me with any questions or concerns before or after the interview.

The semistructured interviews with the eight participants yielded rich data and reached data saturation as I attempted to discern what their views on socialization within homeschooling are and how those views manifest in implementation. If any of these participants withdrew from the study, my back-up plan was to ask the families chosen if they knew other families that would participate. However, no participants withdrew from the study. Looking for the strongest themes, I did not have an inclination as to how many themes would result from the interviews and was open to the possibility of the occurrence of unexpected information.

I reassured participants that I was honest in my pursuit of data collection and that I did not have bias or an alternative motive for collecting this data other than the pursuit of knowledge and understanding to help fill the gap in the literature on the topic at hand. I assured participants that all data collected would be kept in a secure place and the identity of participants would be protected throughout the study process through use of pseudonyms (see Baker et al., 2012; Patton, 2015). After completion of the study, all email trails, recordings, and transcriptions with participants' private information were destroyed and deleted from all archival databases.

## **Summary**

Chapter 3 began with a restatement of my research purpose and RQs as well as a presentation of the research design and rationale. As previously stated, the goal of this study was to explore the socialization component within homeschooling from the perspective of homeschooling parents in order to potentially fill the gap in current data on the topic. In this chapter, I explained my role as the researcher, the methodology used, and why the qualitative approach furnished rich data to the research directive. The chapter also included a discussion of the participant pool and recruitment, data collection instruments and sources, data collection protocols, and content validity assurances. I then detailed the data analysis plan and addressed issues of trustworthiness, such as credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. I explained the rationale for determining the sample size as well as indicated how potential biases were addressed and the ethical procedures used such as participant confidentiality.

## Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore homeschooling parents' perceptions of how homeschooling affects the socialization of their elementary school aged-children, and in what ways, if any, parents make socialization a component of homeschooling practices. Though research has showed that homeschooled children develop into well-adjusted adult members of society (Medlin, 2013), it was unknown how parents perceive and take into consideration socialization as a component of their homeschooling practices. The RQs were:

RQ1: What are parents' perceptions of how homeschooling affects the socialization of their elementary school-aged children?

RQ2: In what ways, if any, do parents make socialization a component of homeschooling practices?

Chapter 4 includes a discussion of the setting, participant demographics, data collection, and data analysis. The trustworthiness subsections contain explanations of the process of achieving credibility, transferability, dependability, and the confirmability of the study. I conclude Chapter 4 with the study results.

#### Setting

I conducted semistructured interviews with the eight participants remotely over the Zoom platform. I emailed participants suggesting they find a quiet, private location from which to engage in the interview process. I, too, found a quiet, private space from which to conduct the interviews.

# **Demographics**

All eight participants were parental members of two-parent families residing in two regions of the United States. The participants were given the following pseudonyms: Becca, Ronnie, Nancy, Janis. Toby, Pam, Molly, and Bonnie. All but one of the participants has homeschooled two or more elementary school-aged children for at least 2 years. One participant, Janis, who was currently homeschooling only her youngest son was included in the study due to her 30+ years of homeschooling experience. I addressed all invitations to participate to both parents; however, all parents that volunteered were mothers who were the primary homeschooling parents. All participants held a post-high school degree: three had bachelor's degrees, two had graduate school degrees, and three had doctorates. The range of years homeschooling was 4 to 5. The number of children homeschooled ranged from two to nine (see Table 1).

 Table 1

 Participants' Experience With Homeschooling

Pseudonym	Years of	Number of children	Number of
	homeschooling	homeschooled in	elementary-aged
		total	children currently
			homeschooled
Bonnie	2+	2	2
Toby	5+	3+	4
Molly	5+	5+	4
Becca	10+	5+	2
Pam	10+	4	2
Nancy	20+	5+	2
Ronnie	20+	5+	2
Janis	30+	10+	1

## **Data Collection**

I emailed recruitment letters and consent forms to potential participants after receiving approval to conduct the study from the Walden University Institutional Review Board (Approval No. 11-09-21-0307512). After I received consent from the participants, I scheduled the time and date for their interviews. Each of the participants was interviewed over Zoom for 45–60 minutes with the understanding that follow-up questions may be needed after the initial interview; however, no follow-up interviews were required. After conducting and analyzing the first eight interviews, saturation was evident, so I stopped emailing invitations to participants. A \$25 gift card was sent to each participant following the initial interview. After completion of each Zoom interview, I used Grain transcription software to transcribe the audio recording of the interview and assigned each participant a pseudonym. I then listened to each interview while reading the transcript to ensure any typos were corrected and removed any identifying information. I then deleted the audio recording of each interview from my Zoom account

and stored the interview recordings on my password-protected computer. I emailed the transcriptions to participants and invited them to review them and make any changes they deemed necessary. There were no requests for changes from participants. I transferred demographic information for each participant into a Word document, including their initials, pseudonym, demographics, and interview dates.

## **Data Analysis**

I began data analysis by reading through all the transcripts, making note of possible codes in relationship to the RQs. I then went back and read each interview carefully and began the hand-coding process by highlighting relevant words, phrases, sentences, or sections. Relevancy and importance were determined when words, phrases, or feelings were repeated or seemed an important factor to the subject matter. I used the highlighting method again to indicate the additional responses to the probes. I also referred to my reflective journal notes to assist me in coding and interpreting the data as well as to recognize what further categories and themes had emerged from a second round of analysis. Using hand coding enabled me to get a firsthand connection with the transcripts and data, which was an important step for a credible interpretation of the data. As the researcher, I decided what constituted a theme as I categorized the codes (see Patton, 2015). Criteria used to determine themes consisted of over 50% participants reporting the same or similar material or experiences, which lent strength and validity to themes.

Five themes emerged from the data (as shown in Table 2). The first three themes relate to RQ1 and last two themes relate to RQ2.

Table 2Themes and Codes Aligned With Research Questions

RQs	Themes	Codes
RQ1: What are parents' perceptions of how homeschooling affects the socialization of their elementary school-aged children?	Providing the opportunity to interact with people from all walks of life  Family creates	Friends with all ages, interacting with people from different cultures, friends with all genders, friends with all races, everyday living, opportunity to socialize, independence
	community and culture	Influence from within rather than from outside sources, parental control, parent/student connection, outside influences, student directed living, parental involvement, parents/child connection
	Homeschooling fosters self-development and self-directedness	Self-directed socialization, freedom for self-development, sense of self/family, everyday living, opportunity to socialize, independence, organic socialization
RQ2: In what ways, if any, do parents make socialization a component of their homeschooling practices?	Parents choose strategies for organized socialization	Playdates, group lessons, opportunity for student self-directed socialization
	Parents encourage organic socialization	Socialization as fundamental developmental stage, socialization happens as a result of living

#### **Evidence of Trustworthiness**

## Credibility

In order to ensure credibility in this study, I followed a robust research design and conducted the data collection process in a systematic manner, leading from data collection to analysis and reporting the findings in an ethical fashion (see Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Throughout the data collection process, I regularly sought feedback from my dissertation supervisor in order to confirm I was implementing the credibility strategies listed in Chapter 3. I re-read my journal notes in conjunction with reviewing each interview transcript looking for signs of my biases. My goal was that readers of the study should be able to deem the data and findings valid and reliable in order to assist in their deeper understanding of the topic. Internal validity is dependent on me, the researcher, representing the realities of the participants as they expressed them (see Patton, 2015).

## **Transferability**

To ensure transferability, I focused on providing the applicability of the findings of my study to other similar, but not identical, occurrences in the same area of interest, which allowed me to go beyond the narrow confines of the data collected (see Patton, 2015). For transferability, the data reported must contain thick description (i.e., details) supported by illustrative quotes and examples. I worked to obtain illustrative quotes and examples through my interviews of the participants that included questions regarding perceptions of their experiences. I did not deviate from the transferability strategies outlined in Chapter 3.

## **Dependability**

In the attempt to establish and provide dependability in the study, I focused on maintaining consistency throughout my research journey (see Patton, 2015). I employed strategies including adequate time allotment for the collection of data and self-reflection as the researcher in order to limit bias and assumptions. The peer review process was also included where I conferred with colleagues on study processes and used an audit trail where I detailed all procedures (see Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). I aimed for alignment among all elements of the research process because qualitative researchers have found careful monitoring is key to a successful study (see Yin, 2014).

# **Confirmability**

Confirmability is a vitally essential component in qualitative inquiry because it is imperative that research is carried out with reflection and responsiveness to ensure the findings are free from researcher biases and personal viewpoints (see Patton, 2015). As the process of collecting data went on, I continued to revisit my journal notes, confirming the importance of themes and patterns that continued to emerge and elaborated on the findings by adding depth and richness.

#### Results

Five themes emerged from the data analysis, as seen in Table 2. The first three themes relate to RQ1, and last two themes relate to RQ2.

# Theme 1: Homeschooling Provides the Opportunity to Interact With People From all Walks of Life

All eight participants stated that in homeschooling, their children have been given numerous opportunities to socialize with people of all ages, genders, races, and demographics. Three subthemes emerged related to this theme:

- friends formed through common interests
- friends formed through volunteering
- parental supervision

# Friends Formed Through Common Interests

Toby, a homeschooling mom of 5+ children spoke for the other participants when she stated that their "kids are really set up to thrive socially." Toby explained that her children's access to others are "not restricted by age;" they find friends based on common interests rather than on their peer age group. Nancy expressed that her children have close friends whom they met through activities, such as soccer and baseball clubs. These friends come from various backgrounds and attend both private and public schools; however, all share a love of sports.

All the participants expressed that homeschooling enables them to choose what kind of socialization they deem important for their children. Bonnie, who is currently homeschooling two of her four children in a metropolitan area, explained that she signed up her two older children, aged 5 and 6 years old, for pottery classes. She explained that 50% of the reason was "actually for the actual pottery," while the other 50% was to socialize with the other children in the class and the teacher with whom "they've formed

an emotional relationship." Bonnie expressed that she previously knew and admired the teacher and wanted her children to take her class. "Another mom put together the tae kwon do class," and because she knew and trusted the teacher, Bonnie was excited for her children to take the class.

## Friends Formed Through Volunteering

In addition to interacting with friends of differing ages, Toby cited daily experiences, such as visiting a retirement facility and volunteering at the local community center, as giving her children the opportunity to meet all different kinds of people that she believes has enabled them to be "more well-rounded socially." Pam, a homeschooling mom of four, also cited a nursing home as a place her children had the chance to interact with older people as well as people of differing races and genders. Similarly, Becca, a homeschooling mother of 5+ children, two of whom are currently of elementary age, spoke about beautiful relationships her children have formed visiting such venues as the local nursing home. Becca spoke of her preteen son who developed a beautiful bond with "Miss Doris," a resident at the nursing home where he would go several times a week to play bingo. This was a bond that was able to be formed because homeschooling allowed Becca's son the opportunity to visit the nursing home during daytime hours when the residents at the nursing home were engaging in their activity sessions. In addition to volunteering at nursing homes, participants also spoke about their children spending time at community get-togethers to pick-up litter and beautify their hometowns or cities.

Bonnie, currently homeschooling two of her four children, spoke of several close friendships her children had developed over the past few years while volunteering at local community gardens. She said,

My kids love to garden, and I wanted them to also have pride in keeping our neighborhood clean and beautiful, so when I realized they could spend many hours a week at our local community garden I signed them up.

What Bonnie did not consider was "all the kids that would be doing the same thing and all the close friendships that would develop through a shared love of gardening and community pride."

# Parental Supervision

While participants explained that homeschooling their children gave the children the opportunity to meet all kinds of people, they emphasized that their children interact with numerous individuals under parental auspices. Molly, a homeschooling mom of 5+ children, said that she has never worried about her children socializing, explaining, "There are a lot of people on this planet ... many homosapiens, and you will have opportunities to interact with people of all ages, I see that homeschool children are very, very emotionally healthy and socially normal." She went on to explain that her "children spend the first many years of their lives in social situations with adults present." Whether it is she or another mom, her children have guidance and direction from a caring adult, which is generally the parent.

Pam echoed this same concept of parental guidance in social situations. "I'm very careful about the influences on my children," she said. Though she generally encourages

them to work out their conflicts themselves, she said she is always close by to guide or lend parental guidance when needed and help her children navigate the interactions and "socialize through all levels." Nancy, another veteran homeschooling mom of 21+ years of her 5+ children, said her "kids are known for having good social skills, being able to talk to anybody and that includes older people as well as younger." Nancy credits the social fluidity she witnesses in her children's interactions to the fact that they have the opportunity to interact with people of differing groups and they have her guidance on proper social behavior and norms.

## Theme 2: The Family Creates Community and Culture

All eight participants commented on the importance of their family connections to enable positive socialization. The following two subthemes emerged related to this theme:

- family as community
- learning and learner-focused environment

## Family as Community

Nancy, a homeschooling mom of 5+ children, remarked that in her "homeschool family, the primacy is the home, the parents, and the kids and their relationship to each other." Nancy reflected on her love of spending time with her children and how her family has formed their own culture from which they derive direction and purpose, explaining that "when you homeschool, your primary group is you, your home, your children."

Toby, a homeschooling mom of four explained that her home acts as the principal location for their unique family community. Toby stated a belief that the education of children is "primarily a parent's responsibility" and a desire "to be the one in charge" of their learning. In addition to the aspect of learning, Toby explained the family's home education journey "evolves on its own" because it is a "family journey" that encompasses everyone in the home. "Home education is so individual family to family," repeating that the family has created their own community.

#### Pam remarked that

The standard classroom found today in schools is so artificial ... sitting with kids of the same age is not life [and] this idea that your kids are not going to learn to socialize unless they're in school is flawed, they are just learning the socialization level of the other kids ... that's why I always think that the one room schoolhouse was great because you had the older kids acting as role models for the younger kids.

Pam has mirrored the one room schoolhouse in her home by having her four children "learning side by side, with the older ones giving cues on behavior to the little ones, and I am right there, learning with them, we have our own way of doing things and its awesome," Pam said with a big smile on her face.

# Home Education (as a Term versus Homeschooling)

Toby clarified her use of the term "home education" rather than that of "homeschooling" as she believes that the use of the term "school" connotates having school at home and to her that would defeat the purpose of educating her children at

home. Janis also preferred the use of "home education" to "homeschooling" and detailed her family's unique culture as one in which "music is part of our education and one of the main parts" of her children's education and life experiences. Janice stated, "home education affords the opportunity to socialize with people from all different walks of life and all ages, sizes, stages, and everything." Janice explained her children participated in their local youth orchestras and were "always in the very top level of players consistently throughout their childhood." Janis credited her home music culture as enabling her children to focus on their music skills. According to Janis, her home environment has given her children their culture and community support to pursue such interests such as music, in addition to others.

Similarly, Pam the mom of four girls, said her children are finished with their formal education by two in the afternoon which leaves time for all their activities. "I like that my kids' activities are scheduled during the day, whether it is piano lessons, swim lessons; all of this is during the daylight hours and in the evenings, they're having dinner and spending time with their sisters," which according to Pam is all "part of their home education." Like Janis, Pam's home environment is very much focused on music and participation in the arts, and Pam credits "all interactions between family members as the most important social experiences a person have in life." Unlike her children, Pam does not play an instrument and did not take lessons as a child. However, she said she loves learning alongside her children and doing things together on a daily basis. Pam also remarked that because she spends so much time with her girls in their home and at

outside activities, she knows them better than anyone else and can help guide each one of them "to develop their likes and dislikes on their own without outside influences."

Ronnie, a veteran homeschooler with over 20 years of experience educating her several children said she has seen that "one of the main benefits of having your children home is the building of your own family structure, building a rapport with your kids, connectivity where you understand them better than the rest of the world." Ronnie also said, "you are your own best expert on your family and your children." Ronnie continued, stating that she believes educating children at home creates a "family community" which has enabled her to have a strong connection with her children. Ronnie credited this connection for helping her aid her children in "discovering what is core to them, what their own sense of purpose and mission is about." Ronnie said from her own experience in conventional brick and mortar schools that children are forced to "over-focus" and "be more responsive to external demands than to your internal self."

Participants remarked that because the home has been their central learning environment the guiding force for their children has been their family life. The way they "do things" and the manner in which "they" get along with each other and the world at large is greatly dependent on their home life. Nancy reflected that when she started homeschooling her children, she did not realize the benefits it would have. Nancy remarked that her "kids love each other and connect with each other and help each other." Bonnie shared such sentiments, "we're all really happy" she remarked "I also just really like my kids and don't want to send them away." Nancy explained "We're a homeschooling family" and went on to state that "if your kids are away at school all day,

they're not in your house, they do not have you as their primary [person?]." Nancy continued to say that because she was the primary teacher and influence for her children there has not been any "but my teacher said" argument in response to her parental vocalizations on matters of importance.

Becca, a homeschooling mom of 5+ kids said from the very beginning of her home education journey she consciously made the choice to be the primary influence on her children. "I didn't want my children to learn how to behave by copying other 6-year-olds" in kindergarten. Becca expressed in response to being asked why she chose to educate her children at home, "If I want you to learn how to socialize, meaning how to interact with other people in society, my children are better off doing it with me as their guide than anybody else." Though she believes "friends are important," children "need their parents" Becca went on. In "our culture" she said, "we overestimate how much children need peers and underestimate how much children need their parents."

As a child Ronnie began to get disenchanted with the standard, brick and mortar schooling system. Ronnie explained that she went to standard schools and "did all the things everybody told" told her she was

supposed to learn to be prepared for life ... I completed college and it didn't prepare me at all for life. I didn't know how to live in the world. I had been coopted into this academic universe that did not prepare me for anything except an active academic universe or a specific academic based career and I swore I would not do that to my children.

Ronnie continued to explain that her older children went on to college and have done quite well, and she plans to support all her children through whatever academic degree they choose. She said she is confident that her children have been "brought to a place of balance in homeschooling, as human beings, like solid human beings" who can healthfully and positively enter the standard system of education after their elementary years at home. Ronnie believes that the solid education at home in the early years gives her children the proper experiences to develop positive social skills. "I'll say that socialization must, in my view, start with a good core socialization with your parents and your siblings at home. Because if you cannot do that successfully, dumping them into another environment is not a substitute," Ronnie also said that how one behaves "comes from the home, the home community" and who better to guide that individual than "the parent who knows them better than the outside world."

## Theme 3: Homeschooling Fosters Self-Development and Self-Directedness

All the participants remarked how their homeschooling has enabled their children to "self-direct" themselves both academically and socially. Pam explained that her children "have a lot of free time where they can decide how to use their time" and since they are done with their schooling early in the day "they have the rest of the day to decide what they're going to do." Often Pam's children will do activities on their own or with each other. Pam said she strongly believes the way her children self-direct much of their activities has enabled them to "develop their likes and dislikes on their own" which in turn "prepares them for college and adulthood." Ronnie echoed similar sentiments by

saying that educating her children at home helped them understand how to manage their time wisely.

#### Socially

Molly, a homeschooling mom of 5+ children said when her kids were very little, she planned playdates for them with other children from families she knew and felt would be positive influences on her children. As her children moved into their elementary years Molly said they started orchestrating their own playdates and homeschooling gave them the flexibility to socialize for a good portion of the day due to the fact their formal learning was accomplished in the morning hours. Molly said her children were so successful at scheduling time with friends she started having to say "no" to playdates at times because her children were "too social", and they needed "some time off in the afternoon to just chill out and relax."

Pam said her kids "never had a shortage of friends" because their lives have always been "packed with different activities and things they were exploring" and they would develop friendships all along the way. Janis remarked that whether it was orchestra practice, aviation classes, or simply local neighborhood playdates, her children have had the ability to get along with every type of individual due to their vast socialization experience provided by the opportunities which are natural to homeschooling practices.

"Learning how to navigate relationships" which include "different personalities is not easy" Pam remarked. Pam also said that one asset of homeschooling is that she can choose the overall pool of friends from which her children can choose their friends, but at the same time the focus is that they still get to "choose their own friends." According to

Pam her children have learned how to deal with different people because the pool of people she chose for them to interact with has been so vast that her children have encountered people of many different cultures and religions. Homeschool "has enabled my children to interact with so many people which is the nature of the world, they would not have such experiences in a regular classroom setting."

#### Academically

Molly said "my kids are a lot more open to learning because they learn at home. Nobody ever forces them to sit down and do something to sit in a chair for however many hours and then come home do their homework." Molly also said that during breaks like Thanksgiving or New Year's her children would "pull out their workbooks and do work with me." Molly believes that "children, by nature are curious and so thirsty to learn things, and then we like squash them by forcing them to sit in a chair and learn." Molly said homeschooled kids just love the learning process and that her "kids are always asking about learning and the next thing they're coming to me with lists of things they want to learn." Many of their friends in "conventional schools" are always saying they "hate math" or "hate school," Molly said, and also said she believes her children have never felt that way simply because "nobody's forcing them to sit anywhere," they are "learning because they want to."

Bonnie said the lifestyle of homeschooling is something that has given her family the flexibility to learn and socialize in their own way. Bonnie gives her children a checklist of items to be accomplished daily. "Every morning we do like an assortment of activities, like reading a poem or looking at famous artwork, listening to a composer,

reading stories, etc." Each check list includes something like "a math lesson, or a history lesson," or "read a book of geography." Bonnie makes sure that all the important subjects are covered each week and believes that due to the fact her children are given choices on what they want to learn when they are not just inclined to learn but "excited to do so." Before Becca was a mother, she worked in both the public and private school systems. She said, "all children have an innate desire to learn, they are all born curious, and we do a pretty good job of stamping out the curiosity out of them by about the age of 10." Becca acknowledged that she herself did "fine" when she went to school, but she was not willing risk her children losing their curiosity for learning. "I wanted them to be interested in the world, and I was pretty sure that we had a better chance of doing that by learning together than by sending them to school." Having her children at home has given Becca "the freedom to present things in the time and in the way that I feel is best for each individual child." Her children have choices on what they want to learn but at the same time Becca is in control of their learning and takes "responsibility for them." Becca says homeschooling gives her children the opportunity for self-directed learning under her direction.

## Theme 4: Parents Choose Strategies for Organized Socialization

All the participants reported having regularly scheduled playdates for their children during their early years as well as offering numerous opportunities for socialization. Nancy said her children's friendships have been formed, for example, by scheduled play dates with children who homeschool and those not homeschooled, socializing at group music and art lessons, orchestra rehearsal, and family friends. Becca

said that it has always been important for her children to have friends and that is why her family "specifically moved to a new development with 40 young families so that there would literally be tons of children outside our door at any moment." Becca said it has always been important to her to organize play dates for her children especially when they were preschool age and to enable her children to schedule their own playdates as they would get older. Living in a neighborhood full of children enabled her children to get together with friends easily since most friends were in walkable distance. Becca enrolled her children in art classes and movement classes and sports leagues to meet friends.

According to Janis, "socialization was a big problem for us; we had to learn to limit it" she said with a chuckle. "In fact, one year she put a total ban on sleepovers" because spending time with friends was taking away too much from family time. Pam remarked that homeschool meetups gave her family the opportunity for socialization for both her and her children. "Two or three meetings a month" with other homeschool families offered Pam and her children a positive way to interact with others and allowed her children to "choose their friends, by and large, from a pool" of children that she was comfortable with. Toby cited similar sentiments as Pam in regard to the homeschool family gatherings.

Toby and her husband moved their family to a large city largely due to its thriving homeschool community. Toby initiated several different group meetups to give her children the occasion to meet friends and socialize with peers. Toby also organized a movement class to take place twice a week in her home for 12-15 children. After the class the children have an hour to play and amuse themselves with different group

activities such as finger painting or playdough. Toby's children also play instruments and Toby organized music groups so her children could find friends with similar interests and talents

Bonnie also created classes for her children with other homeschooling families. "I see it as my role to enable socialization opportunities," for example "every Monday they know they're going to see their friends at Taekwondo, every Wednesday they're going to see their friends at art class." Bonnie also enrolled her children in classes where they could socialize with children who go to standard brick and mortar schools. Bonnie said she understands "the importance of our kids having these relationships and we work to make that happen."

# **Theme 5: Parents Encourage Organic Socialization**

In addition to discussing scheduling playdates and other planned social interactions, participants reported that socialization happens for their children as a matter of living. "Interacting with adults and peers is a natural exercise of life, having a math lesson, going into the store to order feed for the animals" all these experiences are part of life, said Toby, adding, social situations "sort of all evolve on their own organically" without having to be scheduled.

"Socialization," Becca said, "is everybody we interact with, everything we do in life." Though Becca has scheduled playdates for her children, she thinks that "socialization is when my kids go ice skating, they interact with their instructor, other people on the ice." Becca also said that

all of that interaction is socialization, and it happens naturally. Socialization is how we speak to the checkout lady in the grocery store, its how we participate in the museum and talk to the tour guides and the volunteers there.

Becca also spoke about a field trip "tour at the National D-Day Memorial. This old veteran [guide] was so delighted to have children who actually asked him questions and were curious and answered questions and were engaged." Becca credits "just life" as the cause for her children's ability to socialize.

Nancy said that homeschooling her children has enabled her to offer them more "socialization opportunities" than children in standard brick and mortar schools because her children are not grouped with peers of their exact same ages. Rather, Nancy explained, her children select their friends based on common interests, and meeting these friends occurs as "a result of living." The "flexibility of homeschooling allows" for her children to meet people and "engage in social situations in a healthy and positive way."

Molly said,

when you are in conventional school, you're with a group of children who are born within the same few months as you, [but] when you are home no one is forcing you to play with another child of a specific age, there is no expectation based on age or grouping. There are opportunities all over to just be a functional socially normal person; in a lot of ways there are more opportunities to learn how to be socially functional [when primarily] in the home setting.

Molly believes her children have had most of their socialization opportunities due to organic circumstances, and not ones that were "contrived or forced" by "placing children in a classroom because on their age and so on."

Molly explained that her children make friends with peers they have common interests with, and the connections are not based on age. She discussed how a homeschooling family with four daughters moved next door, all a year or two different from each of her kids but how each of her children found a "best buddy" to hang out with which "probably wouldn't have happened in a conventional setting" because the majority of their playtime has taken place during daylight hours when most kids are in school "Friendships happen naturally" she explained, and homeschooling has offered more opportunities for such interactions than "conventional schooling."

#### **Summary**

This study used a basic qualitative design and hand coding for analysis of the data collected from interviews with eight homeschooling parents of a two-parent homeschooling family. Seven of the eight parents interviewed had two or more elementary schooled aged children of whom at least two were homeschooled; one family had one homeschooled child. The research questions centered on how homeschooling parents perceived the effects of home education on the socialization of their elementary school aged children, and in what ways the parents made socialization a component of homeschooling practices. Five themes emerged which were: providing the opportunity to get along with people from all walks of life, family created community and culture, self-development and freedom, organized socialization & organic socialization.

In Chapter 5 I will interpret the themes in connection with the conceptual framework and empirical literature discussed in Chapter 2. I will then present limitations of the findings, implications for social change, and opportunities for future research.

## Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions and Recommendations

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore homeschooling parents' perceptions of how homeschooling affects the socialization of their elementary schoolaged children and to identify in what ways, if any, parents make socialization a component of homeschooling practices. In alignment with the purpose, the research questions addressed how parents perceived the effects of homeschooling practices on the socialization of their children and how these practices played a part in their everyday lives

For this basic qualitative study, I recruited eight participants who had been homeschooling two or more elementary school-aged children for 2 or more years from two regions in the United States. After the individual, semistructured interviews were conducted, data saturation was evident. I then applied open coding for analysis from which the following five themes emerged:

- Theme 1: Homeschooling provides the opportunity to interact with people from all walks of life.
- Theme 2: The family creates community and culture.
- Theme 3: Homeschooling fosters self-development and self-directedness.
- Theme 4: Parents choose strategies for organized socialization.
- Theme 5: Parents encourage organic socialization.

In this chapter, I interpret the key findings of the study in the context of the conceptual framework. Then, I discuss the ways the findings confirm, disconfirm, or extend findings of the recent, peer-reviewed research reviewed for this study. The

limitations of the study are described and recommendations for further research are offered. In closing, I explain the potential implications and implications for social change of the findings of the study.

# **Interpretation of the Findings**

My interpretations of the findings are structured according to the five themes that emerged from data analysis regarding the conceptual framework and previous empirical literature.

#### **Interpretation of the Findings in Light of the Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework was based on socialization as directed by Medlin's (2013) three socialization foci:

- Social activity: The interaction homeschooled children have with friends and peers.
- Social influence: Teaching children how to navigate social norms.
- Social exposure: How children understand the cultures and values of those around them (p. 107).

According to Medlin, these three foci are interconnected and always circle back to the central theme of socialization and how children learn and develop through interaction with the world around them. Medlin's conceptualization of socialization was prevalent in the five emergent themes in the current study. In the following subsections, I address each of the foci regarding relevant themes and whether the findings confirm, disconfirm, or extend Medlin's foci regarding socialization.

## Social Activity

The first theme, providing the opportunity to get along with people from all walks of life, confirms Medlin's (2013) foci that social activity and the interaction homeschooled children have with friends and peers is treated with importance in homeschooling practices. All eight participants in the current study reported that social activity plays an integral part in the daily lives of their children and viewed it as part of the socialization. One of my interview questions, guided by the first of Medlin's foci, was "How do your kids make friends?" Participants reported that they believed their children received a healthy social structure from homeschooling practices. Toby, for instance, a mom of five, explained that her "kids are really set up to thrive socially. My kids get to meet all sorts of people and I feel deeply this is helping them flourish socially and emotionally."

Toby, in addition to the other seven participants, reported that volunteering is a key activity in the lives of their children and unique friendships have been formed through volunteering. Toby said that her children visit a retirement facility within walking distance from their home, sharing, "My kids go on a regular basis and consider their elderly friends near and dear to their hearts." Toby believes having this exposure has enabled her children to be "more well-rounded socially." Whether it was visiting retirement facilities, nursing homes, youth centers, or community clean-up initiatives, all eight participants reported that their children have ample time and opportunity to engage in civic duties.

Medlin (2013) credited the three foci with indicating how homeschooled children socialize in a manner that fosters their capacity to be active and responsible members of society. Many of my interview questions were based on this framework and both the opportunity for and exercise of social interactions between the participants' children and the world around them. In response to these questions, participants explained that socialization manifests in how their children get along with other people, both young and old. Nancy gave the example of her children having the ability to "get along with everyone" and having the reputation of "having good social skills and being able to talk to anyone." The ability to have positive interactions with friends and peers is a result of "the very nature of homeschooling which promotes interaction with an array of different individuals," according to Pam. This sentiment was repeated by the other seven participants as well.

# Social Influence

Guided by the second of Medlin's (2000) three foci, one of my follow-up interview questions was "how will your kids learn proper behavior?" Participants answered this question by reporting that their children have learned how to get along with different personalities because the home learning environment has taught them how to navigate through differing societal norms. Understanding that people come from different places and cultures can be challenging, according to the participants; however, homeschooling has allowed them time and space to positively meet these challenges. Examining the participant contributions under the context of the framework fostered

confirmation that the social influences surrounding homeschooled children enable them to positively navigate social norms.

## Social Exposure

Understanding the cultures of those around them and each child's peer's unique value system is at the core of homeschooling explained the participants. Guided by the third of Medlin's (2000) foci, I asked, "how will your kids learn about different people and how to get along in society?" Having social exposure to "all sorts of people" and not "just being surrounded by kids of the same age and demographic" is how Becca's children, for instance, learn to understand the "differences in people around the world." For example, having daily exposure to an array of people "enables children to grow into well-adjusted adults," Molly said. The other participants echoed Molly's sentiment in their own words and through their own personal stories and examples that confirm Medlin's ideas. Medlin found that homeschooled children maintain close friendships with individuals from various socioeconomic and ethnic backgrounds as well as different ages and cultures.

# Interpretation of the Findings in Light of the Empirical Literature

This subsection is organized according to five of the concepts that, in part, guided the literature review in Chapter 2: practices within homeschooling to foster socialization, making friends, parent/student connection, stereotypical assertions and misconceptions of homeschooling, and freedom of environment. I have rephrased these five headings to better reflect the findings.

## Stereotypical Assertions and Misconceptions of Homeschooling

A primary stereotypical assertion and misconception referenced in Chapter 2 was that homeschooled children do not have friends and are socially inept (see Jolly et al., 2012). The question about socialization has always plagued the lives of homeschoolers (Haugh, 2014). Participants in the current study referenced that they knew the social stereotypical assertions that were made by individuals "on the outside" or "those that do not understand homeschooling." However, the participants reported that they used those assertions and misconceptions in positive ways to help them create home learning environments that would serve to debunk those stereotypical assertions and misconceptions.

Many studies, such as the one by Mazama (2015), found homeschooled children to be emotionally equipped and to have friends of various cultures, races, and ethnicities. Mazama found that the homeschooled children in grow into community-minded adults with positive social awareness. Mazama credited the positive socialization findings to the strong connection the parental participants had with their children and the fact that these parents made identity and sense-of-self priorities in the lives of their children. The participants in the current study confirmed Mazama's conclusions.

In an article on common homeschooling myths, Romanowski (2006) explained the common assertion that the practice of homeschooling limits a child's exposure to the outside world and, therefore, that child will grow up to be socially deprived and lacking social awareness. Participants in the current study discussed this common assertion and reported that they believe influence from within the family structure, rather than from

outside sources, builds socially aware and healthy individuals. These participant responses led to the creation of Theme 2: Family created community and culture.

#### Parent/Student Connection

Mazama (2015) explained that homeschooling parents have a strong connection to their children, knowing what their children need both academically and socially.

Romanowski (2006) found that one of the primary reasons for homeschooling was that parents wanted to "foster family relationships amongst siblings and parents" and "provide their children with guided and reasoned social interactions with peers and adults" (p. 129). Participants in the current study confirmed this guided interaction between parent and child, also reporting that this relationship between parents and children led to a deep connection that strengthened the family unit as a whole.

Several recent studies, such as Abuzandah (2020) and Tweni et al. (2022), found that homeschooling parents can adequately address the developmental needs of their children because learning for their children is interactive. Abuzandah found that adapting teaching skills to the needs of children resulted in making learning more enjoyable and enforced social skills through stronger bonds between children and their parents.

Participants in the current study reported that they felt a very close bond with their children that they explained was created and nurtured by having the daily connections that are natural to the homeschooling environment.

#### Socialization and Making Friends

The literature review in Chapter 2 addressed socialization as a primary factor in homeschooling practices. The first theme, providing the opportunity to get along with

people from all walks of life, confirmed this. For instance, Guterman and Neuman (2017), Baili (2017), and Perlman-Avnion and Grayevsky (2019) all found that homeschooled children interact with a large array of individuals on a regular basis in numerous venues. After interviews with 140 homeschooling parents, Guterman and Neuman reported that many homeschooled children made friends and developed their social aptitude from engaging in activities with peers of similar interests. Guterman and Neuman also found that these interactions were based on common interests rather than age or demographic because homeschooled children were involved in a vast number of social activities with peers and adults alike. My research confirmed Guterman and Neuman's findings.

Like the participants in the study by Guterman and Neuman (2017), the participants in the current study consisted of parents of homeschooled children. These parents were able to lend knowledge and understanding into the specifics of their children's daily lives by explaining the how and why of their children's social interactions. For example, Guterman and Neuman found that homeschooled children advanced their social aptitude by socializing with individuals of varied ages, cultures, and socio-demographic circumstances. The participants in the current study also reported that their homeschooled children have made friends based on parallel interests, which was due to the numerous daily opportunities given to them by the very nature of home-based education.

After conducting a quantitative study with 100 survey respondents, Baidi (2019) found that homeschooled children were given the opportunity to interact with a large

array of individuals due to their exposure and daily array of activities. The participants in the current study reported the same as evident in the themes that emerged from data analysis. The first theme emerged from codes such as "opportunity to socialize with all genders," "friends with all ages," and "interacting with people from different cultures." Baidi found that social awareness and positive social skills are developed through the experience of being around different people.

In their mixed-method study involving 78 participants, Perlman-Avnion and Grayevsky (2019) found that homeschooling parents made socialization a priority through both routinely organized activities and enabling natural social setting experiences like encouraging children to play with neighbors and peers from commonly shared activities. In addition, Perlman-Avnion and Grayevsky discovered that homeschooled children were perceived by parents to show the same or similar interest in civic duties and overall social aptitude as their peers from public school.

A recent study by Abuzandah (2020) indicated that homeschooling can enhance children's social skills provided that their parents facilitate constructive social interactions with peers. Abuzandah used 12 case studies consisting of 12 participants, six of whom were students currently being homeschooled at the time of the study and six parental instructors. Abuzandah's findings confirmed the importance of peer interaction for homeschooled children while also confirming the importance and value of the homeschool environment in order to enable peer interaction.

#### Freedom of Environment

Firmin et al. (2019), Mazama (2015), Medlin (2013), Grant (2011), and Romanowski (2006) all indicated that a free environment was the number one reason for enabling homeschooled children to have a diverse demographic of friends and peers. Whether it was organized or organic, participants in the current study indicated that socialization has been enriched for their homeschooled children because they have an environment free of unnecessary restrictions, such as "limiting the age of classmates as is done in conventional learning environments," according to one participant. Freedom of environment was confirmed as a primary factor in homeschooling in all five themes; however, it was most evident in Theme 3: Self-development, Theme 4: Organized socialization, and Theme 5: Organic socialization.

Medlin (2013) found that homeschooling practices were based on the premise that parents should have the ability to arrange for optimal social interactions through freedom of environment and natural circumstance. Freedom was a code identified in Themes 3, 4, and 5. The third theme, self-development and freedom, emerged because participants reported that their children were able to develop themselves because they have the freedom to discern who they are in the world. Themes 4 and 5 both indicated freedom codes.

The results of Firmin et al.'s (2019) research also echoed Medlin's (2013) findings regarding the importance of freedom in the focus area of socialization. Firmin et al. conducted a qualitative study of 15 homeschooling parents and found that their participants who were homeschooling parents took great care to arrange for free

environments in order for their children to socialize. Having the ability to freely choose friends based on similar interests was something found to be important to participants in the current study, and they reported considering this freedom fundamental to the socialization practices of their children.

# **Limitations of the Study**

Limitations of the study included the small sample size of eight participants, relying solely on the participants' perceptions, and not interviewing or observing the children in the study. Another limitation of the study was that it was conducted while seven out of the eight parents were actively homeschooling as opposed to how parents' feel about the socialization of their children after the schooling process had been completed. Interviewing only mothers was a limitation in my study as well as a lack of race diversity as all the participants identified as White.

#### **Recommendations For Future Research**

Based on the literature reviewed in Chapter 2 and my findings in this qualitative study, I recommend further research is warranted to extend knowledge on the research topic. Studies containing a larger participant pool is recommended as well as a study of the perceptions of homeschooled children on how homeschooling affects their socialization. In order to better understand the long-term effects of homeschooling on socialization, I recommend that further research is conducted using participants who were involved in homeschooling practices in the past regarding their perceptions of the outcomes and long-term effect on homeschooled children.

#### **Implications**

Implications for positive social change resulting from this study may consist of the addition of new knowledge to the discipline as well as the expansion of previously known information. The findings of this study centered on what parents' perceptions of how homeschooling affects the socialization of their elementary school aged children and in what way, if any, do these parents make socialization a component of their homeschooling practices. The findings of this study could increase understanding of how socialization plays a role in the lives of homeschooled children and benefit potential homeschooling parents who are looking to better understand the interconnection of homeschooling and socialization.

The findings from this study could also further positive social change by informing educators and current homeschooling parents on possible ideas on how to integrate socialization into learning objects as well as better understand how children make friends and upon what those friendships may be founded, such as common interests. Positive social change could also take the form of educators and community members stepping away from the common comparison of public schoolers to homeschoolers by directing attention to how each educational venue can learn from the other. Additional implications for positive social change could be in the form of interdisciplinary initiatives in schools or alternative learning environments.

#### Conclusion

As I undertook this research, I had hoped to provide more insight for homeschooling parents regarding how their children could make friends and have a

strong peer group while learning in a home environment. Stereotyped views of it being a struggle to combat seeming isolation of homeschooled children did not bear out in the findings of this study. The eight mothers who have homeschooled their children and volunteered for this study demonstrated confidence about successfully providing socialization experiences for their children. The emergent themes from data analysis pointed to ways they perceived homeschooling provides the opportunity to interact with people from all walks of life, ways that family creates community and culture that lends children insight into relationships outside the family. The homeschooling parents believed their efforts foster their children's self-development and self-directedness. They chose strategies for organized socialization experiences and encouraged organic socialization. This study adds a focus on socialization with peers to the field's exploration of the similar academic outcomes of homeschooling (Bennet et al., 2019; Yuet al., 2016) or better academic outcomes (Firmin et al., 2019; Kunzman & Gaither, 2013; Lubienski et al., 2013; Ray, 2015).

#### References

- Abuzandah, S. (2020). Social skills for homeschooling students. *Creative Education*, 11(7), 1064-1072. https://doi.org/10.4236/ce.2020.117078
- Ali, S. S. (2020, July 5). Parents are opting to home school their children because of COVID-19, but experts say it might not be for everyone. *NBC News*. https://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-news/parents-are-opting-home-school-their-children-due-covid-19-n1232739
- Baidi, B. (2019). The role of parents' interests and attitudes in motivating them to homeschool their children. *Journal of Social Studies Education Research*, 10(1), 156-177. https://www.learntechlib.org/p/208840/
- Bales, K. (August 19<sup>th</sup>, 2020). 10 ways to help your homeschooler find friends. *Weird Unsocialized Homeschoolers*.

  https://www.weirdunsocializedhomeschoolers.com/10-ways-help-homeschooler-find-friends/
- Beck, C. W. (2010). Home education: The social motivation. *Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, *3*(1), 71-81.
- Bennett, D. L., Edwards, E., & Ngai, C. (2019). Homeschool background, time use and academic performance at a private religious college. *Educational Studies*, 45(3), 305–325. https://doi.org/10.1080/03055698.2018.1446332
- Carlson, J. (2020). Context and regulation of homeschooling: Issues, evidence, and assessment practices. *School Psychology*, *35*(1), 10-19. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000335

- Colfax, D., & Colfax, M. (2009). *Homeschooling for excellence*. Grand Central Publishing.
- Cui, J. & Hanson, R. (2019, December 19). *Homeschooling in the United States: Results*from the 2012 and 2016 Parent and Family Involvement Survey.

  https://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2020001
- Demme, J. (2015, March 31). How to connect with other homeschooling parents. *Demme Learning*. https://demmelearning.com/learning-blog/how-to-connect-with-other-parents/
- Durkin, K. (1995). Socialization. In A. S. R. Manstead & M. Hewstone (Eds.), *Blackwell encyclopedia of social psychology* (pp. 614-618). Basil Blackwell.
- Elkind, D. (1976). *Child development and education: A Piagetian perspective*. Oxford University Press.
- Elkind, D. (2005). The changing world of toys and toy play. *Exchange-Exchange Press*, *166*, 11.
- Erikson, E. (1950) Childhood and society. Norton.
- Firmin, M. W., Younkin, F. L., Sackett, T. A., Fletcher, J. Jones, T., & Parrish, E. (2019).

  Qualitative perspective of homeschool parents regarding perceived education success. *Journal of Higher Education Theory and Practice*, 19(1), 44-56.

  https://doi.org/10.33423/jhetp.v19i1.667
- Forrester, A. S. (2016). Encouraging educational diversity: Depictions

- 45of homeschoolers in middle-grade fiction. *Children & Libraries: The Journal of the Association for Library Service to Children*, 14(2), 13–18. https://doi.org/10.5860/cal.14n2.13
- Forrester, D., Maxwell, N., Slater, T., & Doughty, J. (2017). An evidence based review of the risks to children and young people who are educated at home: Final report. CASCADE: Children's Social Care Research and Development Centre.
- Furlong, J., & Davies, C. (2012) Young people, new technologies and learning at home: Taking context seriously, *Oxford Review of Education*, *38*(1), 45-62, https://doi.org/10.1080/03054985.2011.577944
- Gann, C. & Carpenter, D. (2019). STEM educational activities and the role of the parent in the home education of high school students. *Educational Review*, 71(2), 1660181, https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2017.1359149
- Gardner, H. (1982). *Art, mind, and brain: A cognitive approach to creativity*. Basic Books, Inc.
- Gardner, H. (1999). Disciplined mind: What all students should understand. Simon & Schuster.
- Gardner, H., & Moran, S. (2006). The science of multiple intelligences theory: A response to Lynn Waterhouse. *Educational Psychologist*, 41(4), 227-232.
- Gardner, H. (2011). The unschooled mind: How children think and how school should teach. Basic Books Inc.
- Glymour, M., & Manly, J. (2018). Compulsory schooling laws as quasi-experiments for the health effects of education: Reconsidering mechanisms to understand

- inconsistent results. *Social Science & Medicine, 214*, 67-69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.08.008
- Gaither, M. (2009). Homeschooling in the USA: Past, present and future. *Theory and Research in Education*, 7(3), 331-346. https://doi.org/10.1177/1477878509343741
- Gaither, M. (2017). Homeschooling in the United States: A review of select research topics. *Pro-Posições, 2*(28). https://doi.org/10.1590/1980-6248-2015-0171
- Grant, L. (2011). 'I'm a completely different person at home': Using digital technologies to connect learning between home and school. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 27(4), 292-302. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2729.2011.00433.x
- Green-Hennessy, S. (2014). Homeschooled adolescents in the United States:

  Developmental outcomes. *Journal of Adolescence*, *37*(4), 441-449.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2014.03.007
- Grusec, J. E., & Hastings, P. D. (2015). *Handbook of socialization: Theory and research* (2nd ed.). The Guilford Press.
- Guterman, O., & Neuman, A. (2017). What makes a social encounter meaningful: The impact of social encounters of homeschooled children on emotional and behavioral problems. *Education and Urban Society*, 49(8), 778-792. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124516677009
- Hanna, L. G. (2011). Homeschooling education longitudinal study of methods, materials, and curricula. *Education and Urban Society* 44(5), 609-631.
   https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124511404886

- Hardenbergh, N. (2015) Validity of high stakes standardized test requirements for homeschoolers: A psychometric analysis. In P. Rothermel (ed.), *International perspectives on home education*. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Haugh, B. (2014). Hesitation to resolution: Our homeschooling narrative. *Journal of Unschooling and Alternative Learning*, 8(16). https://jual.nipissingu.ca/wp-content/uploads/sites/25/2014/06/v82161.pdf
- Holt, J., & Farenga, P. (2003). *Teach your own: The John Holt book of homeschooling*.

  Da Capo Lifelong Books.
- Jolly, J., Matthews, M. S., & Nester, J. (2012). Homeschooling the gifted: A parent's perspective. *Gifted Child Quarterly* 57(2), 121–134. https://doi.org/10.1177/0016986212469999
- Johnson, D. M. (2013). Confrontation and cooperation: The complicated relationship between homeschoolers and public schools. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 88(2), 298-308. Confrontation and Cooperation: The Complicated Relationship Between Homeschoolers and Public Schools: Peabody Journal of Education: Vol 88, No 3 (tandfonline.com)
- John-Steiner, V., & Mahn, H. (1996). Sociocultural approaches to learning and development: A Vygotskian framework. *Educational Psychologist*, 31(3-4), 191-206. https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.1996.9653266
- Kay, J., & King, M. (2020). Radical uncertainty: Decision-making for an unknowable future. Little, Brown Book Group.

- Kraftl, P. (2013). Towards geographies of 'alternative' education: A case study of UK home schooling families. *Transactions of The Institute of British Geographers*, 38(3), 436-450. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-5661.2012.00536.x
- Krumsvik, R. J. (2020). Home schooling, remote teaching and digital Bildung in societal crisis. *Nordic Journal of Digital Literacy*, *15*(2), 75-85.
- Kula, S. (2018). Homeschooling gifted students: Considerations for research and practice.In J. Cannaday (Ed.), *Curriculum development for gifted education programs* (pp. 151-171). IGI Global.
- Kunzman, R. (2010). Homeschooling and religious fundamentalism. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, *3*, 17-28.
- Kunzman, R. (2012). Education, schooling, and children's rights: The complexity of homeschooling. *Educational Theory*, *62*(1), 75-89.
  - https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1741-5446.2011.00436.x
- Kunzman, R., & Gaither, M. (2020). Homeschooling: An updated comprehensive survey of the research. *Other Education*, *9*(1), 234-317.
- Lebeda, S. (2005). Homeschooling: Depriving children of social development? *Journal* of Contemporary Legal Issues, 16, 99.
- Lubienski, C., Puckett, T., & Brewer, T. J. (2013) Does homeschooling "work"? A critique of the empirical claims and agenda of advocacy organizations. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 88 (3), 378-39.
  - https://doi.org/10.1080/0161956X.2013.798516

- Martin, J. C. (February 24, 2014). How to homeschool: Links to help you get started.

  Simple Homeschooling. How to homeschool: Links to help you get started 
  Simple Homeschool
- Martin-Chang, S., Gould, O. N., & Meuse, R. E. (2011). The impact of home schooling on academic achievement: Evidence from homeschooled and traditionally schooled children. *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science*, *43*, 195-202. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022697
- Mazama, A. (2015). African American homeschooling practices: Empirical evidence. *Theory and Research in Education, 1*-19. African American homeschooling practices: Empirical evidence Ama Mazama, 2016 (sagepub.com)
- McMullen, J.G. (2002). Behind closed doors: Should states regulate homeschooling. *SCL Rev.*, *54*, 75.
- McQuiggan, M., Megra, M. (2017). Parent and Family Involvement in Education:

  Results from the National Household Education Surveys Program of 2016. First

  Look (NCES 2017-102) (ED575972). U.S. Department of Education. National

  Center for Education Statistics. 463-482.

  https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2017/2017102.pdf
- Medlin, R. G. (2000). Home schooling and the question of socialization. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 75(1-2), 107-123.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/0161956X.2000.9681937

- Medlin, R. G. (2013) Homeschooling and the question of socialization revisited. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 88(3), 284-297. https://doi.org/10.1080/0161956X.2013.796825
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: a guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). Jossey-Bass Publishing.
- Murphy, J. (2013). Riding History. *American Educational History Journal*, 40(1/2), 335-354.
- Murphy, J. (2014). The social and educational outcomes of homeschooling. *Sociological Spectrum*, *34*(3), 244-272. https://doi.org/10.1080/02732173.2014.895640
- National Conference of State Legislatures. (2010). *Compulsory school age requirements*.

  Compulsory School Age Requirements (ncsl.org)
- Olmstead, G. (2015). Gifted homeschooling: Our journey with a square peg. A mother's perspective. *Parenting for High Potential*, *4*(7), 10-13.
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice*. Sage Publications.
- Pearlman-Avnion, S., & Grayevsky, M. (2019). Homeschooling, civics, and socialization: The case of Israel. *Education and Urban Society*, *51*(7), 970-988.
- Pell, B. (2018). At home with technology: Home educators' perspectives on teaching with technology (Doctoral dissertation, University of Kansas). At Home with Technology: Home Educators' Perspectives on Teaching with Technology (ku.edu)

- Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2016). *Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual, theoretical, and methodological.* Sage Publications.
- Ray, B. D. (2000). Home schooling: The ameliorator of negative influences on learning? *Peabody Journal of Education*, 75(1-2), 71-106. https://doi.org/10.1080/0161956X.2000.9681936
- Ray, B. (2013). Homeschooling associated with beneficial learner and societal outcomes but educators do not promote it. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 88(3), 324-341. https://doi.org/10.1080/0161956X.2013.798508
- Ray, B. (2015). African American homeschool parents' motivations for homeschooling and their Black children's academic achievement. *Journal of School Choice*, *9*(1), 71-96. https://doi.org/10.1080/15582159.2015.998966
- Romanowski, M. H. (2006). Revisiting the common myths about homeschooling. *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas*, 79(3), 125-129. https://doi.org/10.3200/TCHS.79.3.125-129
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). **Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data** (3rd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Saldaña, J., & Omasta, M. (2016). *Qualitative research: Analyzing life*. Sage Publications.
- Siraj-Blatchford, I. (2010). Learning in the home and at school: How working class children 'succeed against the odds'. *British Educational Research Journal*, *36*(3). 463-482. https://doi.org/10.1080/01411920902989201

- Tipton, J. M. (2019). Twenty-first century skill building for students with special needs through problem-based learning: an examination of homeschool teacher Blogs.

  [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. "Twenty-First Century Skill Building for Students With Special Needs Th" by Jami Maree Tipton (waldenu.edu)
- Tweni, F. M., Wamocha, L., & Buhere, P. (2022). The socialization conundrum:

  Comparing social learning outcomes of homeschooled and traditionally schooled children in Kenya. *J Adv Educ Philos*, *6*(4), 247-253.

  https://doi.org/10.36348/jaep.2022.v06i04.007
- Wilhelm, G. M., & Firmin, M.W. (2009). Historical and contemporary developments in home education. *Journal of Research on Christian Education*, *18*(3), 303-315. https://doi.org/10.1080/10656210903333442
- Yu, M. C., Sackett, P. R., & Kuncel, N. R. (2016). Predicting college performance of homeschooled versus traditional students. *Educational Measurement: Issues & Practice*, 35(4), 31–39. https://doi.org/10.1111/emip.12133

# Appendix: Interview Guide

Interviewee Name: Date: Time: Location: (i.e. in person or zoom) Signed Consent: yesno
Interview Protocol: Introduction to interview:
(Insert Interviewee name), thank you for agreeing to meet with me today and be interviewed on the topic of your homeschooling experience. I appreciate that you signed the consent form and are now taking time from your busy life to speak with me. As mentioned in the consent agreement this interview will be recorded so that I will properly and accurately capture your exact words and sentiments. Let me reiterate, as I mentioned in our initial conversation on the matter, that your privacy is of my utmost concern and maintaining your anonymity is at the forefront of this interview process. I will not directly quote you by proper name unless that is your wish and I have received consent to do so. If at anytime you would like to take a break from answering questions or feel that a question is something you prefer not to answer, please feel free to tell me.

	<b>Interview Question:</b>	Possible Probes:	Interviewer Comments: (for interviewer use only)
Question 1	Please tell me about your family structure. Number of children, ages, etc.	Have your children always been homeschooled?	
Question 2	What led you to choose homeschooling?	Where there other reasons? Is this still the reason you homeschool or has the reasons changed and if so how?	
Question 3	How did you feel about homeschooling before you tried it? Or 'what were your	Tell me more	

	perceptions of it before"		
Question 4	What was your perception of socialization within homeschooling prior to beginning homeschooling practices? this sounds like a probe, but it's a key question for you. They might have talked about this before.	Were there other aspects of socialization that you thought about? What is your current perception?	
Question 5	Tell me about a typical homeschooling day in your home.	How does socialization playout in your child's daily life? Weekly? Monthly . sporadic?	
Question 6	Was socialization a concern for you prior to homeschooling? Might this have been discussed already?	What is your current feeling on the topic now?	
Question 7	How would you describe your children's friendships?	Do you make play dates or arrange meetups regularly? Set up so not yes/no Do you direct their friendships?	
Question 8	Tell me about your children's friends.	Healthy? Happy? Close knit? Are they of the same or different ages as your children?	

Question 9  Question	How do you perceive your role in your children's friendships? Maybe ask this before you ask about "do you set up dates?" How do you think	Tell me more	
10	homeschooling affects the socialization of your kids?	1011110101111	
Question 11	Has your perception of socialization within homeschooling changed since you started the process, and if so how?	Tell me more	
Question 12	Tell me about some of the positive experiences of socialization your children have had. Ask this before you ask about 'if you set up dates?" see if they talk about that first?	Were these experiences unique to using the homeschooling method and if yes how so?	
Question 13	Tell me about what specific elements of your homeschooling practices you feel play a strong role in the socialization process of your children?	Tell me more	
Question 14	What do you wish you had known about socialization within homeschooling prior to starting the process?	Tell me more	

Question	Is there anything else	Anything that you	
15	you would like to	think could prove	
	share with me?	helpful to others who	
		would like to know	
		more about the how	
		homeschooled	
		children make friends	
		and maintain	
		friendships?	

Conclusion:	
, thank you for your time and attention to answering	
questions for this study. If you think of any other information that you would like to	)
share, please feel free to reach out in order to meet again or email me your thoughts	and
comments.	